
 

 
AGENDA 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
5000 CLARK AVENUE 

LAKEWOOD, CALIFORNIA 
 

May 14, 2024 
 
 
 

RECEPTION:  “Lakewood Celebrates . . .” 6:00 p.m. 
 

CALL TO ORDER 7:30 p.m. 
 

INVOCATION:  Reverend Dr. Candace Kelly, Acts Community Bible Church 
 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Scout Troop 75 
 

ROLL CALL: Mayor Todd Rogers 
 Vice Mayor Cassandra Chase 
 Council Member David Arellano 
 Council Member Steve Croft 
 Council Member Jeff Wood 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS AND PRESENTATIONS: 
 

ROUTINE ITEMS: 
All items listed within this section of the agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one 
motion without separate discussion.  Any Member of Council may request an item be removed for 
individual discussion or further explanation.  All items removed shall be considered immediately 
following action on the remaining items. 
 

RI-1 MEETING MINUTES - Staff recommends City Council approve Minutes of the Meetings held 
April 23, 2024 

 

RI-2 PERSONNEL TRANSACTIONS - Staff recommends City Council approve report of personnel 
transactions. 

 

RI-3 REGISTERS OF DEMANDS - Staff recommends City Council approve registers of demands. 
 

RI-4 MEETING REPORTS AND AUTHORIZATIONS PURSUANT TO AB1234 - Staff recommends 
City Council receive and file the report. 

 

RI-5 MONTHLY REPORT OF INVESTMENT TRANSACTIONS – APRIL 2024 - Staff recommends 
the City Council receive and file the report. 

 

RI-6 PERMIT FOR STREET CLOSURE FOR BLOCK PARTY ON AUTRY AVENUE - Staff 
recommends City Council approve permit be issued to responsible applicant authorizing temporary 
closure at the requested location on Saturday, May 25, 2024. 

 

RI-7 NOTICE OF COMPLETION – WELL 13A TREATMENT FACILITY - PW PROJECT 2022-2 - 
Staff recommends the City Council accept the work constructed by Canyon Springs Enterprises of 
Hemet in the amount of $1,068,095.08 and authorize the City Clerk to file the Notice of 
Completion for the project. 

 



In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you are a qualified individual with a disability and need an 
accommodation to participate in the City Council meeting, please contact the City Clerk’s Office, 5050 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, 

CA, at 562/866-9771, ext. 2200; or at cityclerk@lakewoodcity.org at least 48 hours in advance to ensure that reasonable 
arrangements can be made to provide accessibility to the meeting. 

 
Agenda items are on file in the Office of the City Clerk, 5050 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, and are available for public review 

during regular business hours.  Any supplemental material distributed after the posting of the agenda will be made available for 
public inspection during normal business hours in the City Clerk’s Office.  For your convenience, the agenda and the supporting 

documents are available in an alternate format by request and are also posted on the City’s website at www.lakewoodcity.org 

City Council Agenda 
May 14, 2024 
Page 2 

 

 

ROUTINE ITEMS: - Continued 
RI-8 COUNCIL CHAMBERS IMPROVEMENTS RFP - POTENTIAL SCOPE OF WORK - Staff 

recommends the City Council provide guidance to staff on the scope of work for the Council 
Chambers Improvements; and provide guidance to staff on whether to proceed with issuing the 
RFP for design architectural firms with the selected project scope. 

 

RI-9 AWARD OF BID FOR PUBLIC WORKS PROJECTS NO. 2024-3 AND 2024-5, TOT LOT 
PLAYGROUND IMPROVEMENTS TO BISCAILUZ PARK AND PLAYGROUND 
IMPROVEMENTS TO BOYAR PARK - Staff recommends the City Council adopt the plans, 
specifications, and working details; award a contract for the project in the amount of $647,369.37 
to the low bidder Ortco Inc., and authorize the Mayor to sign the contract in a form approved by the 
City Attorney; and authorize staff to approve a cumulative total of change orders, as necessary not 
to exceed $97,000. 

 

RI-10 AGREEMENT WITH LOS ANGELES COUNTY FOR FINANCING AND CONSTRUCTION 
OF A TRAFFIC SIGNAL SYNCHRONIZATION PROGRAM (TSSP) ALONG WOODRUFF 
AVENUE - Staff recommends the City Council approve an Agreement to authorize the County to 
be the lead agency for a Traffic Signal Synchronization (TSSP) project along Woodruff Avenue; 
authorize $269,700 of Measure M Funds for this project; and authorize the City Manager to sign the 
Agreement in a form approved by the City Attorney. 

 

RI-11 RESOLUTION NO. 2024-14;  ESTABLISHING ADMINISTRATIVE FINE FOR CARWASH 
BEYOND NORMAL HOURS OF OPERATION - Staff recommends the City Council adopt the 
proposed resolution. 

 

REPORTS: 
3.1 SUMMER RECREATION PROGRAMS, CIVIC CENTER BLOCK PARTY PREVIEW AND 

CATALOG PREVIEW - Staff recommends the City Council receive and file the report. 
 

AGENDA 
LAKEWOOD HOUSING SUCCESSOR AGENCY 

1. DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH HABITAT FOR HUMANITY - Staff 
recommends the City Council enter into a Disposition and Development Agreement with Habitat for 
Humanity of Greater Los Angeles, and designate staff to execute said agreement. 

 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS: 
 

CLOSED SESSION: 
CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS:  Pursuant to Government Code §54957.6 
Agency Designated Representative:  City Manager, Office of the City Attorney and Liebert Cassidy 
Whitmore, Director of Finance and Administrative Services, Deputy City Manager, Human Resources 
Manager, Administrative Assistant II 
Employee Organization:  Lakewood City Employees’ Association 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 RI-1 

 Routine Item 1 – City Council Minutes 
 
 will be available prior to the meeting. 



























































































LAKEWOOD MUNICIPAL CODE Section 9350B.11.e 
 

(e) Each guest unit shall have a minimum floor area as follows: Efficiency and studio units, 600 
square feet; one-bedroom units, 750 square feet; two-bedroom units, 900 square feet. No guest unit 
shall have more than two (2) bedrooms. Each guest room shall contain a kitchen facility containing a 
range cook-top, automatic dishwasher, microwave or conventional oven, full-size refrigerator, two-
basin sink, and adequate cookware, flatware, and dishware. 
(f) Guest units may have primary access directly from an exterior walkway. 
(g) A manager of at least 21 years of age shall be on the premises at all times. 
(h) A laundry room containing at least one (1) pair of washing machines and dryers for each 50 
guest units shall be provided to guests for their use, or a washer and dryer shall be provided in each 
guest unit. 
(I) The following accessory uses may be allowed in conjunction with an extended stay hotel: 

(1) A Gymnasium or Health Club consisting of a defined space and/or room(s) where exercise 
equipment, machines, and related equipment is available for use by guests only. May include 
adjacent restrooms and showers. 
(2) Meeting and Conference Rooms. 
(3) Office Support Services consisting of a defined space and/or room(s) where facsimiles, 
photocopying, report binding, computer access, and similar facilities are available for guests 
only. 
(4) Recreational Facilities including saunas, spas, swimming pools, tennis courts, and similar 
such facilities for use by guests only. 
(5) Bingo, Casinos, Gambling, and Games of Chance are not permitted accessory uses. 

(Added by Ord. 2003-8) 
12. Tobacco and Nicotine Product Sales. Sales of tobacco and nicotine products may be established in 
the C-4 zone or less restrictive zone districts, subject to a conditional use permit. No conditional use permit 
shall be issued for a tobacco and nicotine product sales facility in violation of the following: 

(a) No portion of the tobacco and nicotine product sales facility shall be within one thousand (1,000) 
feet of the property boundary of any church, public or private school, or college, library, public 
playground or park, building and facilities owned and maintained by any public entity for the public 
use, or any noncommercial establishment operated by a bona fide religious organization, or any 
establishment likely to be used primarily by minors; 
(b) For the purpose of this subsection: 

(1) “Public park or playground” includes parks, playgrounds, swimming pools, and athletic 
fields of the City, a school district, or a church or a religious organization. 
(2) “Church” includes any building which is used primarily for religious worship and related 
religious activities, as well as the grounds thereof. 
(3) “School or college” means an institution of learning which offers instruction and other 
courses of study required by the California Education Code, or which is maintained pursuant to 
standards set forth by the State Board of Education. This definition also includes nursery 
schools, kindergartens, day schools, elementary schools, junior high schools, senior high 
schools, community or junior colleges, colleges or universities, and any special institution of 
learning under the State Department of Education. 

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing or the provisions of Section 9392.A.1 regarding nonconformity 
abatement and termination, no conditional use permit shall be required for a tobacco and nicotine 
product sales facility that was operating in any zone district with a valid business license issued by 
the City for that purpose prior to the effective date of this section as amended, provided that: 

(1) The facility operates continuously with a valid business license without substantial change 
in mode, character or expansion of the operation; 
(2) There is no break in continuous operation greater than one hundred eighty (180) days; and 
(3) Any repair or remodeling does not change the nature of the facility and does not increase 
the square footage of the business used for the sale of tobacco and nicotine products. 

(Added by Ord. 2013-9) 
13. Commercial Carwash. Any self-service or full-service permanent facility offering hand and/or 
mechanical car washing, which includes detailing, waxing, and/or cleaning of vehicles. Carwash facilities 
may include outdoor vacuums, vacuum stations, and other outdoor equipment and activities normally 
associated with a carwash. Other activities and uses may co-locate with a carwash as deemed acceptable 
by the Planning and Environment Commission. The review of any proposed design shall consider and 
mitigate any identified impacts to adjacent properties, including those from noise, light, glare, vibration, 
parking, circulation and appropriate stacking distance for access lanes. 
 

(Revised 2018) 



LAKEWOOD MUNICIPAL CODE Section 9350.B.13.a 
 

(a)  Any commercial carwash that was approved with a conditional use permit prior to and that was 
valid on the effective date of this Ordinance shall remain as a fully authorized land use. Any proposed 
modification to such a previously approved carwash shall be subject to the provisions listed in 
Subsection 9347.D.11.  

(Added by Ord. 2018-6) 
(b) Hours of Operation. Commercial carwashes shall not be open to the public for operation prior to 
7 a.m. and shall not operate after 8 p.m. everyday. 

(Amended by Ord. 2018-9) 
9351. LIMITATION ON USES PERMITTED. Every use permitted in a C-4 zone shall be subject to the conditions 
and limitations set forth in Section 9341, with the following exceptions: 

B. In the C-4 zone no building shall exceed a height determined by the total floor area in which said total floor 
area shall not exceed ten (10) times the buildable area of such parcel of land upon which the building is located. 
In determining the total floor area of the building, the cellar floor space, parking floor space, ramps, and roof 
structure space shall not be included. 
C. HELIPORTS. No heliport or helistop shall be permitted within the City of Lakewood except in Zone C-
4, and M-1, and Zone M-2, and then only pursuant to and in accordance with a Conditional Use Permit granted 
in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Chapter. No Conditional Use Permit for heliport or helistop 
shall be granted unless all the terms and provisions of this Code are complied with pertaining thereto and unless 
the particular heliport or helistop has been found to be reasonably necessary or convenient in the area in which 
it is proposed to be located; and it is further found that its use and operation will not adversely effect in a 
substantial way the character of the neighborhood and will not be detrimental to the public health, safety and 
welfare. In addition to those conditions that may be imposed by the City Planning Commission or City Council 
in granting such a Conditional Use Permit, the following conditions shall apply: 

1. As used herein, heliport shall include helistop. 
2. Heliports shall be divided into two classes as follows: 

(a) Private heliports defined as heliport used only by helicopters while engaged in the personal or 
business operations of the person or company maintaining such heliport. 
(b) Public heliports defined as heliports regularly used by helicopters carrying persons or property 
for hire or used for the conduct of flight instruction for hire or used as a base for charter or rental of 
helicopters. 

3. No permit for heliport shall be granted by the City Planning Commission unless the applicant first 
has received approval of the Federal Agency and the State Aeronautics Commission wherever required. 
Whether or not approval of the State Aeronautics Commission or Federal Aviation Agency is required, all 
such applications shall be reported to said agency in detail by the City with a request for Federal and State 
recommendations pertaining to the granting of the use and restrictions to be placed thereon. No such permit 
shall be granted unless said Federal and State agencies have reported thereon, or sixty days have elapsed 
from the date of formal request to said agencies for said report. 
4. Any Conditional Use Permit granted hereunder shall be subject to any restriction or regulation 
imposed by the Federal Aviation Agency of the State Aeronautics Commission in the granting of any permit 
by said agency. 
5. In the granting of Conditional Use Permit, the City Planning Commission or City Council shall 
impose any additional reasonable or necessary condition as suggested or recommended or required by the 
Federal Aviation Agency, the State Aeronautics Commission, the City Engineer, the City Fire Warden and 
the law enforcement agency of the City. Before any Conditional Use Permit is granted, the City Planning 
Commission or City Council shall request of and receive from the City Engineer, Fire Warden, law 
enforcement agency, reports in writing pertaining to said application and necessary or required conditions 
to be imposed. 
6. Each permit shall be subject to the condition that the surface of the heliport be such that dust, dirt or 
other objectionable matter will not be blown onto the adjoining property by helicopter operations. 
7. Each such permit granted shall be subject to the condition that all provisions of the Building, Fire 
and Health Code are complied with at all times, including such special provisions thereof as may be 
applicable in the case of heliports and helicopters. 
8. No permit shall be granted unless the person owning or controlling the premises to be used has give n 
his consent to such use. 
9. Each permit shall be subject to the condition that the permittee neither authorize, allow or permit the 
use of his facilities by persons, firms or corporations violating any provisions of this Code pertaining to 
the operation of helicopters or any safety regulation prescribed by an agency of the Federal Government 
or the State of California, and on the further condition that helicopters from said heliport be operated in 
accordance with minimum safe altitudes as prescribed by this Code and in accordance with traffic patterns, 
or approach routes for a heliport as are prescribed by the Federal Aviation Agency. 



LAKEWOOD MUNICIPAL CODE Section 4900 
 
 CHAPTER 9 
 ADMINISTRATIVE CITATION PROVISIONS 
 (Added by Ord. 2004-3) 
 
4900.  APPLICABILITY. 

A. ADMINISTRATIVE CITATION.  This Chapter provides for administrative citations that are in 
addition to all other legal remedies, criminal and civil, which may be pursued by the City to address any 
violations of this Code and other ordinances of the City.  This Chapter does not apply to violations of Part 5, 
Chapter 2, Article III, commencing with Section 3250, of the Lakewood Municipal Code.  
B. ADMINISTRATIVE FINE.  An administrative fine shall be assessed by means of an administrative 
citation issued by an Enforcement Officer, and shall be paid directly to the City of Lakewood. Fines shall be 
established in an administrative fine schedule adopted by resolution of the City Council. Fines shall be 
collected in accord with the procedures specified in this chapter.  Payment of a fine shall not excuse failure to 
correct the violation nor shall it bar further enforcement action by the City.  
C. ADMINISTRATIVE CITATIONS THAT MAY BE TREATED AS MISDEMEANORS.  Any 
person who violates the same provision, or fails to comply with the same requirement, of the Lakewood 
Municipal Code more than three times within a twelve-month period shall be guilty of a misdemeanor for each 
violation committed thereafter within the same twelve-month period.  Any person who violates or fails to 
comply with this code and who refuses to identify himself or herself to an enforcement officer, making it 
impossible to issue an administrative citation, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor.   

4901.  DEFINITIONS. 
 A. “CITY” means the City of Lakewood. 
 B. “CITED PARTY” means a legally responsible person who has been issued an administrative citation. 

C. “CONTINUING VIOLATION” means any condition or activity in violation of the Municipal Code or 
ordinances that continues beyond the date given in the administrative citation to correct the violation. 
D. “ENFORCEMENT OFFICER” means any employee of the City of Lakewood or agent for the City 
authorized to enforce provisions of this code. 
E. “LEGALLY RESPONSIBLE PERSON” means any person who creates, allows, commits, or maintains 
a violation of the Lakewood Municipal Code or a Lakewood ordinance.  It includes a natural person, heirs, 
executors, administrators, assigns, firm, partnership, corporation, its successors or assigns, or the agent of any 
of the aforesaid. The term “legally responsible person” includes but is not limited to a property owner, tenant, 
person with a legal interest in real property, or person in possession of real property. 
F. “LEGAL INTEREST” means any interest that is represented by a deed, deed of trust, quitclaim deed, 
mortgage, lease, judgment lien, tax or assessment lien, mechanic’s lien or other similar interest, which is 
recorded with the County Recorder.   
G. “HEARING OFFICER” means the person designated by the City Manager to determine the validity of 
the violation stated on the citation. 

4902.  SCOPE.  This chapter provides for administrative penalties for any violation of this code or a City ordinance, 
which may be pursued in lieu of any other legal remedy, criminal or civil, to address any such violation of this code.  
The city attorney, city prosecutor, or their assistants, have sole discretion to determine whether a violation will be 
prosecuted criminally or civilly or otherwise as authorized by law.  
4903.  ADMINISTRATIVE CITATION. 

A. AUTHORITY TO CITE.  Whenever an Enforcement Officer determines that a violation of this Code or 
a City ordinance has occurred, the Enforcement Officer shall have the discretion to issue an administrative 
citation, in lieu of a judicial citation or misdemeanor, to any legally responsible person.  (Amended by Ord. 2014-4) 

 B. CITATION CONTENTS.  Administrative citations shall contain the following: 
  1. The date and location of the violation and the approximate time the violation was observed; 
  2. The code section or ordinance violated and a description of how the section was violated; 
  3. The actions required to correct the violation; 
  4. An order prohibiting the continuation or the repeated occurrence of the code violation;  
  5. The consequences of failing to correct the violation; 
 
 
 

(Revised 2014) 



LAKEWOOD MUNICIPAL CODE Section 4903.B.6 
 
  6. The amount of the fine imposed for the violation; 
  7. The date by which a fine must be paid; 
  8. The location at which a fine must be paid; 
  9. Information regarding the procedures to contest the citation; 
  10. The name and signature of the enforcement officer. 
4904.  AMOUNT OF FINE. 

A. SCHEDULE OF FINES.  The amount of the fine imposed for a code violation shall be set forth in the 
schedule of administrative fines established by resolution of the City Council.   
B. REPEAT VIOLATIONS.  The schedule of administrative fines shall specify any increased fines for 
repeat violations of the same code provisions by the same responsible person within 12 months from the date 
of an administrative citation. 
C. LATE CHARGES.  The schedule of administrative fines shall specify the amount of any charges 
imposed for the payment of a fine after its due date.   

4905.  SATISFACTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE CITATION. 
A. TIME TO PAY.  The fine shall be paid to the City within 30 days from the date of the administrative 
citation. 
B. WAIVER OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING.  Payment of the fine without requesting an 
administrative hearing waives the cited party’s right to the administrative hearing and appeal process. 
C. Repealed. 
D. REQUEST AN ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING. A cited party may contest a citation in writing, not 
later than 15 days after service of the citation. The request shall be submitted in writing as directed on the 
citation and shall include a statement of reasons the citation is being contested.  The request shall be 
accompanied by a deposit in the full amount of the fine or a request for an advance deposit hardship waiver.  
 A hearing will not be scheduled unless the full amount of the fine is deposited, or the City finds the cited 
party unable to do so and waives the deposit requirement. 
 A request for an advance deposit hardship waiver shall be filed at the Community Development 
Department on an advance deposit hardship waiver application form, available from the department, at the 
time an administrative hearing is requested.  The Director of Finance or his designee may issue an advance 
deposit hardship waiver but only if the person requesting the waiver submits a sworn affidavit, together with 
supporting documents, demonstrating to the satisfaction of the Director of Finance the person’s financial 
inability to deposit with the City the full amount of the fine in advance of the hearing.  Documentation of 
financial hardship must include, at a minimum, tax returns, financial statements, bank account records, salary 
records, or similar documents acceptable to the Director of Finance, demonstrating that the cited party is 
unable to deposit the fine. 
 The Director of Finance or his designee shall issue a written decision specifying the reasons for issuing or 
denying the waiver.  The decision shall be served by United States mail or by personal service upon the cited 
party.  If service is by mail, service is complete upon depositing the decision in the mail.  If the Director of 
Finance or his designee determines that an advance deposit hardship waiver is not warranted, the cited party 
shall remit the full amount of the fine to the City within 10 days of service of the written decision to grant or 
deny an advance deposit hardship waiver. 

(Amended by Ord. 2014-4) 
4906.  ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING AND APPEAL PROCESS. 

A. ADVANCE DEPOSIT OF FINE.  No hearing to contest an administrative citation before a Hearing 
Officer shall be held unless the fine has been deposited in advance in accord with Section 4905.D, or an 
advance deposit hardship waiver has been issued in accord with Section 4905.D. 
B. PREHEARING DISMISSAL OF CITATION.  The City Attorney or City Prosecutor may dismiss an 
administrative citation at any time if it is determined to have been issued in error, in which event any deposit 
will be refunded. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(Revised 2014) 



LAKEWOOD MUNICIPAL CODE Section 4906.C 
 

C. TIME OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING.  The administrative hearing shall be scheduled not later 
than 60 days after receipt of the request for a hearing to contest the citation.  The cited party shall be notified 
in writing at least ten days before the date of the hearing of the date, time and location of the hearing.  Notice 
may be served personally upon the cited person or mailed by U.S. mail with first class postage prepaid.  
Mailed notice shall be addressed to the property owner as shown on the last available equalized tax roll, or if 
there is no such address then in care of the property address.  If the cited party is not the property owner, the 
notice shall be mailed to the last known address of the cited party.   
 Service of notice is complete upon personal service on the cited party or upon depositing the notice of 
hearing in the U.S. mail in Lakewood, California.  Failure of any person to receive the mailed notice shall not 
affect the validity of any proceeding or order regarding administrative citations.   
D. APPOINTMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING OFFICER.  The hearing shall be conducted 
by an Administrative Hearing Officer appointed by the City Manager to perform such hearings.  
E. REQUEST FOR CONTINUANCE OF HEARING.  The cited party may request one continuance of 
the hearing, but in no event may the continued hearing begin later than ninety days after receipt of the request 
for hearing from the cited party.   
F. FAILURE TO ATTEND ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING.  The cited party, or that person’s 
representative, may attend the hearing in person or, in lieu of attending, may submit an Appearance by Written 
Declaration on a form provided by the City for that purpose. 

1. If the cited party or his or her representative fails to attend the scheduled hearing and fails to submit 
an Appearance by Written Declaration on the form provided by the City for that purpose, he or she shall 
have waived his or her right to an administrative hearing.  The Administrative Hearing Officer shall then 
dismiss the challenge to the administrative citation, and shall mail a written notice to that effect to the 
cited party.  The advance deposit shall then become the property of the City. 
2. A cited party who has requested an administrative hearing may request in writing that his or her 
challenge to the citation be dismissed and the hearing canceled.  Upon receipt of such request, the 
Director of Community Development shall dismiss the challenge to the administrative citation, cancel the 
pending hearing, and issue a written notice to that effect. The advance deposit shall then become the 
property of the City.  (Amended by Ord. 2014-4) 
3. If a hearing was scheduled after approval of an advance deposit hardship waiver form and then 
dismissed at the request of the cited party, the cited party shall pay the fine to the City within 7 days after 
written notice to do so.  If the cited party obtained an advance deposit hardship waiver and neither 
attended the hearing nor submitted an Appearance by Written Declaration, the cited party shall pay the 
fine to the City within 7 days after written notice to do so. 

G. PROCEDURE AT ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING.  Administrative hearings are informal, and 
formal rules of evidence and discovery do not apply.  Hearsay evidence is permitted.  Evidence shall be 
relevant to the issues to be decided. Each party shall have the opportunity to present evidence in support of his 
or her case and to cross-examine witnesses.  The city bears the burden of proof at an administrative hearing to 
establish a violation.  The citation is prima facie evidence of the violation.  The enforcement officer who 
issued the citation is not required to participate in the hearing unless requested by the cited party.  The 
Administrative Hearing Officer shall use preponderance of the evidence as the standard of proof in deciding 
the issues.  Evidence shall be submitted under penalty of perjury. 
H. DECISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING OFFICER.  At the conclusion of the hearing or 
within 15 days thereafter, the Administrative Hearing Officer shall render a decision as follows: 

1. Determine that the violation for which the citation was issued occurred, and require payment of the 
pertinent fine not later than seven days after the date of such determination, in the event that an Advanced 
Deposit Hardship Waiver had been approved.  If the violation has not been corrected by the date of the 
hearing, the Director of Community Development shall send a notice of the required correction date, 
within 10 days of receipt of the Administrative Hearing Officer’s decision. 
2. Determine that the violation for which the citation was issued occurred, but that the responsible party 
has introduced credible evidence of mitigating circumstance warranting imposition of a lesser fine than 
that prescribed in the schedule of administrative fines, or no fine at all, and imposing such lesser fine, if 
any.  
3. Determine that the violation for which the citation was issued did not occur or that the condition did 
not constitute a violation of the code.   

 (Amended by Ord. 2014-4) 
(Revised 2014) 



LAKEWOOD MUNICIPAL CODE Section 4906.I 
 

I. ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER.  The Administrative Hearing Officer shall issue a written decision 
entitled “Administrative Order” no later than fifteen days after the date on which the administrative hearing 
concludes.  The Administrative Order shall be served upon the responsible person by personal service or by 
first class mail as provided in Section 4906.C. 
 The Administrative Order shall become final on the date of mailing or other service; it shall notify the 
responsible person of his or her right to appeal as provided in subsection K of this section.  If the hearing 
officer determines as described in subsection H.2 or H.3 immediately above, and the responsible party has 
deposited the penalty with the City, the Administrative Order shall order a partial or full refund of the deposit.  
(Amended by Ord. 2014-4) 
J. FINE DUE.   

1. If the Administrative Order imposes a fine in the amount set forth in the schedule of administrative 
fines, or imposes a fine in a lesser amount, and the cited party has filed, and the Director of Finance has 
approved, an advance deposit hardship waiver, then the fine imposed shall become immediately due and 
owing to the City and if not paid may be collected as provided in this chapter. 
2. If the fine was paid to the City before the administrative hearing and the Administrative Order 
imposes a fine in that amount, the fine paid shall immediately become the property of the City.  If a fine is 
imposed in an amount less than the amount paid to the City before the administrative hearing, the amount 
imposed shall immediately become the property of the City and the excess shall be refunded within 30 
days of the date of the Administrative Order.   

K. APPEAL OF ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER.  A cited party who objects to the Hearing Officer’s 
administrative order may obtain review of the administrative citation by filing an appeal with the Superior 
Court in Los Angeles County in accord with Section 53069.4 of the California Government Code.   Such 
appeal must be filed within twenty days after mailing or personal service of the Administrative Order to the 
cited party. The cited party shall within 10 days of filing a notice of appeal with the Superior Court serve upon 
the City Clerk either in person or by first-class mail a copy of the notice of appeal.  If the responsible person 
fails to timely file a notice of appeal, the Administrative Order shall be final.   
L. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER.  Failure to comply with an 
Administrative Order directing the abatement of a continuing violation is a misdemeanor.  In that event, or if 
the City prevails in an appeal of such an Order to the Superior Court and the cited party does not comply with 
the Administrative Order, the City may file a criminal misdemeanor action against the cited party.  Filing a 
criminal misdemeanor action does not preclude the City from using any other legal remedy available to gain 
compliance with the Administrative Order.  
M. ONLY ABATEMENT DISCHARGES THE VIOLATION.  Payment of the fine under this Chapter 
shall not excuse nor discharge any continuation or repeated occurrence of the code violation that is the subject 
of the administrative citation.   Only abatement of the cited condition discharges the violation.  

4907.   LATE PAYMENT CHARGES.  Any cited person who fails to pay the City any fine imposed in accord with 
this Chapter on or before the date that the fine is due shall be liable for the payment of any applicable late payment 
charges set forth in the schedule of administrative fines. 
4908.  COLLECTION OF DELINQUENT FINES.   The City may use all available legal means to collect past due 
fines and other related costs.  

1. Any person who fails to pay any fine shall be liable in any action or collection procedure brought by 
the city for all costs incurred to obtain payment of the delinquent amount, including, but not limited to, 
administrative costs, collection costs, and attorneys' fees. 
2. Collection costs shall be in addition to any penalties, interest, and late charges imposed upon the 
delinquent obligation. 
3. Commencement of an action to collect a delinquent fine shall not preclude issuance of one or more 
additional citations to the legally responsible party if the violation or violations persist after the date for 
correcting them as stated in the Administrative Order. 

4908.1.  COLLECTION BY LIEN.   If the fine owed by a cited party is for one or more Lakewood Municipal Code 
or City ordinance violations on the cited party’s property, and the citation was issued to abate a nuisance as defined by 
the Lakewood Municipal Code or City ordinance, and the amount has been delinquent 90 days or more, the delinquent 
amount shall become a lien on the property on which the violations occurred. 
 
 

(Revised 2014) 



LAKEWOOD MUNICIPAL CODE Section 4908.2 
 
4908.2  NOTICE OF LIEN HEARING.  The Director of Finance shall give written notice to the cited party of a 
hearing before the City Council regarding the delinquent fine amount and related costs.  The notice shall be mailed by 
first class mail at least 14 days before the hearing.  The notice shall state: 
  1. The citation or citations resulting in the delinquent fine amount; 
  2.  The total of the delinquent fine amount and related costs;   
  3. The date the delinquent fine amount was due;  

4. The street address, Assessor’s parcel number, and legal description of the property upon which the 
violations occurred;  

  5. The date, hour, and place of the hearing;  
  6. A statement that the cited party or other legally responsible person may appear and be heard;  

7. A statement that unless the fine amount is paid by the date specified in a resolution by the City 
Council, the total amount due will become a lien and special assessment on the property. 

4908.3  LIEN HEARING.   At the lien hearing the City Council shall: 
  1. Hear and consider all competent evidence about the delinquent fine amount; 

2. If it finds the amount is delinquent, make a finding of fact confirming that the delinquent fine amount 
and related costs are due the City as costs of nuisance abatement; 
3. Order the total amount due to be paid to the City within 5 days, after which the amount due will 
become a lien on the property. 

4908.4  RECORDED LIEN.   If the amount due is not paid within 5 days after the City Council confirms it and orders 
it paid, the amount due shall constitute a lien upon the real property upon which the nuisance violations existed and 
shall be a special assessment against the property.  The lien shall continue until the amount due and interest, computed 
at 6% per annum from the date of the City Council’s confirmation, is paid or until it is discharged of record. 
 If the amount due is not paid as required by the City Council’s order, a notice of lien shall be recorded in the 
Office of the County Recorder and delivered to the County Tax Collector.  The notice of lien shall substantially be in 
the following form: 
 

NOTICE OF LIEN 
CLAIM OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD 

 
 

By the authority of Lakewood Municipal Code §4903, an administrative citation or citations were 
issued regarding nuisance abatement at the real property described below.  Fines were assessed for 
the nuisance.  By action of the Lakewood City Council, recorded in its official minutes, the fines and 
related costs were confirmed as delinquent and assessed against the property as costs of nuisance 
abatement. 

 
The delinquent amount was not paid, therefore the City of Lakewood claims a lien on the real 
property for the costs of abatement in the amount of $             , which shall be a lien on the real 
property until it is paid, with interest at the rate of 6% per annum from the           day of                  , 2      
[insert the date the City Council confirmed the delinquent fines and related costs].  The lien shall 
continue until paid in full and discharged of record.  It shall also be a personal obligation against 
[insert name of property owner].  The real property upon which a lien is claimed is that certain parcel 
of land in the City of Lakewood, County of Los Angeles, State of California, described as follows: 

 
[Insert legal description.] 

 
 

 Dated this          day of                  , 2       . 
 
 

        CITY OF LAKEWOOD 
 
        By:      
               Director of Finance 



LAKEWOOD MUNICIPAL CODE Section 4908.5 
 
4908.5  SPECIAL ASSESSMENT.   After the lien is confirmed and recorded, a certified copy of it shall be filed with 
the County Auditor.  The description of the parcel reported to the Auditor shall be the one used by the County 
Assessor’s map book for the current year.  The County Auditor shall enter each assessment on the county tax roll for 
the reported parcel of land.  The amount of the assessment shall be collected at the time and in the manner of ordinary 
municipal taxes.  If delinquent, the amount is subject to the same penalties and procedure of foreclosure provided for 
ordinary municipal taxes.  As an alternative method, the County Tax Collector, in his discretion, may collect the 
assessment without reference to the general taxes, by issuing separate bills and receipts for the assessment.  Laws 
relating to the levy, collection, and enforcement of county taxes shall apply to such special assessment. 
 The Director of Finance may receive the amount due on the abatement costs and issue receipts at any time 
after the confirmation of the statement, before August 1st of that current year.  The City Council may order a refund of 
any lien or assessment paid under this section if it finds that all or part of the assessment has been erroneously levied.  
An assessment or part thereof shall not be refunded unless a claim is filed with the City Clerk on or before March 1st 
after taxes become due and payable.  The claim shall be verified by the person who pays the tax, or his guardian, 
executor, or administrator. 
4909.  RECOVERY OF CODE ENFORCEMENT ABATEMENT COSTS.   The administrative citation process 
described in this Chapter does not preclude the City from recovering any other code violation or nuisance abatement 
costs incurred by the City in performing its code enforcement efforts. 
4910.  SERVICE PROCEDURES FOR ISSUING ADMINISTRATIVE CITATIONS.   An administrative citation 
in a form approved by the City Attorney may be issued to a legally responsible person by an Enforcement Officer as set 
forth in Section 4903 of this Chapter in the following manner: 

A. PERSONAL SERVICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE CITATION.  In any case where an administrative 
citation is issued to an individual, corporation, or a business, the Enforcement Officer shall attempt to: 

1. Locate the individual, corporation, or business and serve the administrative citation on the 
responsible party.   
2. Obtain on the administrative citation the signature of the person in violation of this Code, or in cases 
in which the violation of this Code is by a corporation or business, the signature of an employee or agent. 
3. If the cited party refuses or is unavailable to sign the administrative citation, the refusal to sign or 
unavailability shall not affect the validity of the citation or of subsequent proceedings.   Refusal or 
unavailability to sign the administrative citation shall be noted on the citation. 

B. SERVICE OF CITATION BY MAIL.   If the Enforcement Officer is unable to serve the cited party, 
the administrative citation shall be mailed to the responsible person by certified mail, postage prepaid, return 
receipt requested.  Simultaneously, the same notice may be sent by regular mail.  If a notice sent by certified 
mail is returned unsigned, then service shall be deemed effective by regular mail, if the notice that was sent by 
regular mail was not returned by the Post Office within a reasonable time. 
C. SERVICE OF CITATION BY POSTING NOTICE.   If the Enforcement Officer does not succeed in 
serving the cited party personally, or by certified mail or regular mail, the Enforcement Officer shall post the 
administrative citation on any real property within the City in which the City has knowledge that the cited 
party has a legal interest or which the cited party occupies, and such posting shall be effective service.   
D. SERVICE OF CITATION BY PUBLICATION.  If the Enforcement Officer does not succeed in 
serving the cited party personally, by certified or regular mail, and the City is not aware that the responsible 
party has a legal interest in any real property within the City, the Enforcement Officer shall cause the 
administrative citation to be published in a newspaper likely to give actual notice to the cited party.  The 
publication shall be once a week for four successive weeks in a newspaper published at least once a week.  A 
newspaper regularly circulated or delivered in Lakewood is a newspaper likely to give actual notice. 







 

















 

 



 COUNCIL AGENDA 
 May 14, 2024 

 
 
 
TO:    Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
 

SUBJECT: Disposition, Development and Grant Agreement with Habitat for Humanity of Greater 
Los Angeles 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
The City of Lakewood (“City”), in its capacity as Housing Successor to the former Lakewood 
Redevelopment Agency (“Agency”), has been negotiating with Habitat for Humanity of Greater Los 
Angeles (“Habitat”) for the development 37 affordable for-sale townhomes.  The non-contiguous sites, 
which were acquired by the Redevelopment Agency in 2012, are zoned Multi-Family Residential, are 
located within a quarter mile radius on the east side of Lakewood (Attachments 1 and 2). The sites will 
be sold to Habitat in exchange for the development of for-sale affordable housing. Per California 
Health and Safety Code Section 341760.1, the sites must be developed with affordable housing as 
established by the California Department of Housing and Community Development (“HCD”).   
 
STATEMENT OF FACTS 
On September 27, 2022, the City Council approved a Deposit and Exclusive Negotiating Agreement 
(“ENA”) between the City and Habitat.  Under the ENA, the City and Habitat negotiated diligently 
and in good faith, resulting in the draft Disposition, Development and Grant Agreement (“DDA”) 
(Attachment 5).   
 
Habitat proposes to construct 37 for-sale townhomes for low-income persons (33 units on City owned 
sites and four units on Habitat owned site).  The proposed development will be a mixture of two- and 
three-bedroom townhomes on the four sites with attached two-car garages and on-site guest parking 
for a total combined parking count of 90 spaces (Attachment 3).  Habitat proposes a Craftsman style 
of architecture for the development (Attachment 4).  As proposed, the development will clean up four 
long vacant sites, increase the City’s supply of quality affordable housing which count towards the 
goals of the 2021-2029 Housing Element, and help increase the value of neighboring properties.   
 
The proposed Declaration of Conditions, Covenants and Restrictions in the DDA requires Habitat to 
sell the 37 units to buyers with incomes between 30% and 80% of the area median income for a term 
not less than 45 years as required by State Law.  Habitat receives funding from various public entities 
such as the Department of Housing and Urban Development and California Department of HCD that 
is leveraged to increase access to affordable, low-income home ownership opportunities.  Habitat also 
receives support from corporate donors and private individual donors who are supportive of Habitat’s 
mission to provide affordable for-sale housing to qualified households.  These sources allow Habitat to 
develop quality affordable home ownership opportunities and they are able to secure affordable 
financing for qualified low-income, first time homebuyers.  







 

CENTRALIA STREET

209TH STREET

WALCROFT STREET

208TH STREET

207TH STREET

206TH STREET

AL
BU

RT
IS

 AV
EN

UE

SITE 2
20920 ROSETON AVENUE

SITE 3
11610 207TH STREET
11618 207TH STREET

SITE 1
11644 206TH STREET
11643 207TH STREET
11649 207TH STREET

SITE 4
20525 PIONEER BOULEVARD
20529 PIONEER BOULEVARD

0 0.05 0.10.025 Miles

RO
SE

TO
N 

AV
EN

UE

SITE 1
HABITAT OWNED PARCEL
11637 207TH STREET

PIO
NE

ER
 B

OU
LE

VA
RD

¹

ckolb
Typewriter
ATTACHMENT 1



 
 

  

ckolb
Typewriter
ATTACHMENT 3



 

20920 Roseton Ave – Lakewood -Site Plan 2  

ckolb
Typewriter
ATTACHMENT 3



 
 

 

ckolb
Typewriter
ATTACHMENT 3



 
 

 

ckolb
Typewriter
ATTACHMENT 3



 

11644 206th St – Lakewood – Site 1 Floor Plan and Rendering 

ckolb
Typewriter
ATTACHMENT 4



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
DISPOSITION, DEVELOPMENT AND GRANT AGREEMENT 

(20920 Roseton Avenue, 20525-29 Pioneer Boulevard, 
11610-18 207th Street, 11644 206th Street and 

11643-49 207th Street) 
 
 

by and among  
 
 

CITY OF LAKEWOOD 
 

and 
 

HABITAT FOR HUMANITY OF 
GREATER LOS ANGELES 

 
 
 

ckolb
Typewriter
ATTACHMENT 5



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 Page 
 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 i 

1. DEFINITIONS ..................................................................................................................... 2 
1.1. Defined Terms ........................................................................................................ 2 
1.2. Singular and Plural Terms ...................................................................................... 8 
1.3. Accounting Principles ............................................................................................. 8 
1.4. References and Other Terms ................................................................................... 8 
1.5. Recitals and Attachments Incorporated; Attachments Additional Consideration .. 9 
1.6. Effective Date ......................................................................................................... 9 

2. REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS .................................................................... 9 
2.1. Representations by the Developer .......................................................................... 9 
2.1.1. Organization ............................................................................................................ 9 
2.1.2. Authority ................................................................................................................. 9 
2.1.3. Valid and Binding Agreements ............................................................................... 9 
2.1.4. Contingent Obligations ......................................................................................... 10 
2.1.5. Litigation ............................................................................................................... 10 
2.1.6. No Conflict............................................................................................................ 10 
2.1.7. No Developer Bankruptcy .................................................................................... 10 
2.2. Representations by City ........................................................................................ 10 
2.2.1. Organization .......................................................................................................... 10 
2.2.2. Authority ............................................................................................................... 10 
2.2.3. Valid and Binding Agreements ............................................................................. 11 
2.2.4. Title to Property. ................................................................................................... 11 
2.2.5. Contingent Obligations ......................................................................................... 11 
2.2.6. Litigation ............................................................................................................... 11 
2.2.7. No Conflict............................................................................................................ 11 
2.2.8. No City Bankruptcy .............................................................................................. 12 
2.3. Limitation Upon Change in Ownership, Management and Control of Developer 12 
2.3.1. Prohibition............................................................................................................. 12 
2.3.2. Permitted Transfers by Developer ........................................................................ 12 
2.3.3. City Consideration of Requested Transfer ............................................................ 12 
2.3.4. Successors and Assigns......................................................................................... 13 

3. DISPOSITION OF SITE; ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS ....................................... 13 
3.1. Transfer of Property .............................................................................................. 13 
3.2. Condition of the Property; Environmental ............................................................ 13 
3.2.1. Disclosure ............................................................................................................. 13 
3.2.2. Developer’s Investigation of the Property ............................................................ 13 
3.2.3. Developer Approval or Disapproval of Condition of Property ............................ 14 
3.2.4. Required Disclosures After Closing ..................................................................... 14 
3.2.5. Duty to Prevent Hazardous Material Contamination ............................................ 15 
3.2.6. Environmental Inquiries........................................................................................ 15 
3.3. Escrow................................................................................................................... 16 
3.4. Review of Title ..................................................................................................... 16 
3.5. Title Insurance ...................................................................................................... 17 
3.6. Submittals into Escrow ......................................................................................... 17 
3.6.1. Submittals by Developer ....................................................................................... 17 
3.6.2. Submittals by City................................................................................................. 17 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 Page 
 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 ii 

3.7. Conditions Precedent to Closing ........................................................................... 18 
3.7.1. City’s Conditions. ................................................................................................. 18 
3.7.2. Developer’s Conditions ........................................................................................ 18 
3.7.3. Termination of Escrow ......................................................................................... 19 
3.7.4. Close of Escrow .................................................................................................... 20 
3.8. Indemnification ..................................................................................................... 20 
3.8.1. By Developer ........................................................................................................ 20 
3.8.2. By City .................................................................................................................. 20 
3.9. Occupants of the Property ..................................................................................... 21 

4. DEVELOPMENT OF THE SITE .................................................................................... 21 
4.1. Scope of Development .......................................................................................... 21 
4.2. Construction of Improvements ............................................................................. 21 
4.3. Off-Site Improvements and Grant ........................................................................ 21 
4.4. Land Use Restrictions ........................................................................................... 22 
4.5. Permits and Entitlements ...................................................................................... 22 
4.6. Materials ............................................................................................................... 22 
4.7. Preparation ............................................................................................................ 22 
4.8. Bodily Injury and Property Damage Indemnification .......................................... 22 
4.9. Compliance with Laws ......................................................................................... 22 
4.9.1. General .................................................................................................................. 22 
4.9.2. Nondiscrimination in Employment ....................................................................... 22 
4.10. Local, State and Federal Laws .............................................................................. 23 
4.11. Release of Construction Covenants ...................................................................... 23 

5. SALE OF THE UNITS ...................................................................................................... 23 
5.1. Sales; Proceeds...................................................................................................... 23 
5.2. Qualified Buyer Requirements ............................................................................. 24 
5.3. Initial Sale of Units ............................................................................................... 24 
5.4. Determining Qualified Buyer Status ..................................................................... 24 
5.4.1. Qualified Buyer Selection ..................................................................................... 24 
5.4.2. Income of Qualified Buyer of the Affordable Units; Affordable Housing Cost .. 25 
5.5. Marketing of Units ................................................................................................ 25 

6. COVENANTS AND RESTRICTIONS ........................................................................... 26 
6.1. Use Covenants ...................................................................................................... 26 
6.2. Nondiscrimination Covenants ............................................................................... 26 
6.3. Affordable Housing Covenants; Declaration. ....................................................... 28 
6.4. Schedule of Performance ...................................................................................... 28 
6.5. Conflict with Declaration ...................................................................................... 28 

7. DEFAULTS, REMEDIES AND TERMINATION ......................................................... 28 
7.1. Defaults - General ................................................................................................. 28 
7.2. Remedies and Rights of Termination Prior to Conveyance.................................. 29 
7.2.1. Termination by Developer. ................................................................................... 29 
7.2.2. Termination by City .............................................................................................. 30 
7.3. Remedies of the Parties for Default After Conveyance ........................................ 31 
7.4. Limitation on Liability .......................................................................................... 31 
7.5. Legal Actions ........................................................................................................ 32 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 Page 
 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 iii 

7.5.1. Institution of Legal Actions .................................................................................. 32 
7.5.2. Applicable Law ..................................................................................................... 32 
7.5.3. Acceptance of Service of Process ......................................................................... 32 
7.6. Rights and Remedies are Cumulative ................................................................... 32 
7.7. Inaction Not a Waiver of Default.......................................................................... 32 
7.8. Attorneys’ Fees ..................................................................................................... 32 

8. GENERAL PROVISIONS ................................................................................................ 33 
8.1. Notices, Demands and Communications Between the Parties ............................. 33 
8.2. Conflicts of Interest............................................................................................... 33 
8.3. Warranty Against Payment of Consideration for Agreement ............................... 33 
8.4. Nonliability of Developer and City Officials and Employees .............................. 33 
8.5. Approvals by City and Developer......................................................................... 34 
8.6. Force Majeure; Extension of Times of Performance ............................................ 34 
8.7. Applicable Law; Interpretation ............................................................................. 35 
8.8. Inspection of Books and Records, Reports ........................................................... 35 
8.9. Administration ...................................................................................................... 35 
8.10. Mutual Cooperation .............................................................................................. 35 
8.11. Ground Breaking and Grand Openings................................................................. 35 
8.12. Independent Contractor ......................................................................................... 35 
8.13. Time ...................................................................................................................... 35 
8.14. Third Party Beneficiaries ...................................................................................... 36 

9. ENTIRE AGREEMENT, WAIVERS AND AMENDMENTS ...................................... 36 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 iv 

SCHEDULE OF ATTACHMENTS 

ATTACHMENT A LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS 

ATTACHMENT B SCOPE OF DEVELOPMENT 

ATTACHMENT C GRANT DEED 

ATTACHMENT D DECLARATION 

ATTACHMENT E LIST OF DUE DILIGENCE REPORTS 

ATTACHMENT F SCHEDULE OF PERFORMANCE 

ATTACHMENT G FORM OF RELEASE OF CONSTRUCTION COVENANTS 

 



DISPOSITION,  DEVELOPMENT AND GRANT AGREEMENT 

THIS DISPOSITION, DEVELOPMENT AND GRANT AGREEMENT (20920 
Roseton Avenue, 20525-29 Pioneer Boulevard, 11610-18 207th Street, and 11644 206th Street 
& 11643-49 207th Street) (“Agreement”) dated for identification purposes only as of May 14, 
2024, is made and entered into by and among the CITY OF LAKEWOOD, a California municipal 
corporation (“City”) and HABITAT FOR HUMANITY OF GREATER LOS ANGELES, a 
California nonprofit public benefit corporation (“Habitat” or “Developer”), with reference to the 
following: 

RECITALS 

The following Recitals are a substantive part of this Agreement.  Capitalized terms used in 
these Recitals and not otherwise defined shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1.1. 

A. The former Lakewood Redevelopment Agency (“Former Agency”) was formed in 
accordance with all applicable laws.  In accordance with California Health and Safety Code 
Section 34172, the Former Agency was dissolved as of February 1, 2012.  The City is the successor 
to the “housing assets” (as defined in California Health and Safety Section 34176) of the Former 
Agency (“Housing Successor”). 

B. In its capacity as Housing Successor, City owns certain real property at 20920 
Roseton Avenue, 20525-29 Pioneer Boulevard, 11610-18 207th Street, 11644 206th Street, and 
11643-49 207th Street, Lakewood, California (APNs 7059-011-900, 7059-019-900, 7059-019-901, 
7059-019-902, 7059-014-900, 7059-014-901, 7059-015-901, 7059-015-900 and 7059-015-902), 
as described in the Legal Description attached as Attachment A (collectively, the “Property”).  
The Property is vacant land and was purchased by the Former Agency using low and moderate 
income housing funds for the purpose of constructing affordable housing. 

C. Habitat is a California nonprofit public benefit corporation whose purpose is to 
construct and sell affordable for-sale housing.  Developer desires to acquire ownership of the 
Property and construct thirty seven (37) townhomes on the Property and certain real property 
already owned by Habitat located at 11637 207th Street (the “Habitat Property”) (each, a “Unit”) 
and related improvements in accordance with the terms hereof (collectively, the “Project”).  

D. City has agreed to sell the Property to Developer in consideration of an aggregate 
of Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000) (the “Purchase Price”) and the covenants and obligations 
set forth herein.   

E. Developer anticipates that it will utilize, to the extent available, sweat equity, 
corporate sponsorships, construction financing, and public funds to finance the Project.  The newly 
constructed Units to be built on the Property shall be held for sale to Low Income Households all 
at an Affordable Sales Price.  The Units restricted for sale to Low Income Households to be 
constructed on the Property shall be collectively referred to herein as the “Restricted Units” or 
individually referred to as a “Restricted Unit.”   

F. City is requiring certain off-site improvements in connection with the construction 
of the Project. To facilitate construction of the off-site improvements, City desires to grant to 
Developer certain funds to be used to complete the off-site improvements. 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 2 

G.  In consideration of the conveyance of the Property and the other obligations of 
City set forth herein, Developer is willing to accept the statutorily authorized occupancy 
restrictions and other conditions set forth herein.   

H. The conveyance of the Property pursuant to the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement are in accordance with the City’s affordable housing goals and objectives in its capacity 
as Housing Successor and the purpose of improving communities through affordable and safe 
housing in accordance with applicable state and local laws. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, City and Developer hereby agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS 

1.1. Defined Terms 

As used in this Agreement, the following capitalized terms shall have the following 
meanings:  

“Additional Endorsements” is defined in Section 3.5. 

“Affiliate” means any person or entity directly or indirectly, through one or more 
intermediaries, controlling, controlled by or under common control with a party which, if the party 
is a partnership or limited liability company, shall include each of the constituent members or 
general partners, respectively, thereof.  The term “control” as used in the immediately preceding 
sentence, means, with respect to a person that is a corporation, the right to the exercise, directly or 
indirectly, of not less than 50% of the voting rights attributable to the shares of the controlled 
corporation, and, with respect to a person that is not a corporation, the possession, directly or 
indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of the 
controlled person. 

“Affordable Housing Cost” means, for Low Income Households, the monthly debt 
service payment on a third party purchase money mortgage used to purchase a Restricted Unit, 
which will result in Affordable Monthly Housing Expenses that do not exceed an “affordable 
housing cost” for the appropriate income level as calculated pursuant to Health and Safety Code 
Section 50052.5(b).  For any Lower Income Household that has a Gross Income that equals or 
exceeds seventy percent (70%) of the area median income adjusted for actual family size, the 
monthly debt service payment on a third party purchase money mortgage used to purchase a 
Restricted Unit shall result in Affordable Monthly Housing Expenses that do not exceed thirty 
percent (30%) of the monthly Gross Income of the Household.  The term “adjusted for family size 
appropriate to the unit” shall have the meaning set forth in Health and Safety Code Section 
50052.5(h) or its successor statute(s). 

 
“Affordable Monthly Housing Expenses” means aggregate monthly housing 

expenses that include all of the following associated with the Restricted Unit, estimated or known 
as of the date of the proposed purchase of the Restricted Unit:  (i) principal and interest payments 
on a mortgage loan(s) including any loan insurance fees associated therewith (a first lien mortgage 
loan is required hereunder to bear a fixed rate of interest and require level payments throughout its 
thirty (30) year term); (ii) property taxes and assessments; (iii) fire and casualty insurance covering 
replacement value of property improvements; (iv) any homeowner association fees; (v) a 
reasonable utility allowance; and (vi) estimated property maintenance and repairs. 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 3 

“Affordability Period” means the period commencing upon the closing of escrow 
for the sale of the Affordable Unit to a Qualified Buyer and terminating no earlier than the forty 
fifth (45th) anniversary thereof. 

“Affordable Resale Price” means the sales price to be used when a Qualified Buyer 
sells an Affordable Unit to an Eligible Purchaser.  Such sales price shall not exceed fair market 
value, and shall be paid for with financing that results in an Affordable Housing Cost to the Eligible 
Purchaser.   

“Affordable Sale Price” means the sales price of a Restricted Unit, which shall not 
exceed fair market value, and shall be paid for with financing that results in an Affordable Housing 
Cost to the Qualified Buyer.   

“Affordable Unit” means each of the newly constructed residential units in the 
Project which shall be available to, occupied by or held for sale exclusively to Low Income 
Households. 

“Agreement” means this Disposition, Development and Grant Agreement, 
including all Recitals, Attachments, agreements entered into in the form of an Attachment, and all 
other agreements entered into by and between the Parties in connection therewith, which are 
hereby incorporated herein, and includes all amendments and modifications thereto. 

“Attachment(s)” means any or all of Attachments A through H to this Agreement, 
and any amendments or modifications thereto. 

“Business Day(s)” means Monday through Friday, except for federal and state 
holidays. 

“Challenge” is defined in Section 7.2.1. 

“Challenge Notice” is defined in Section 7.2.1. 

“City Conditions Precedent to Closing” is defined in Section 3.7.1. 

“City Grant Deed” means one or more grant deeds conveying title to the Property 
from City to Developer substantially in the form of Attachment C.   

“City Indemnitees” means City, and its council, boards, commissions, officers, 
employees, representatives, consultants, contractors and agents. 

“City Manager” means the City Manager of the City or his/her designated 
representative.  

“Closing” means the date upon which the City Grant Deed is recorded in the 
Official Records, all of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3.7 hereof are satisfied or 
deemed satisfied, and all additional documents received by Escrow to be recorded in connection 
therewith (if any) are recorded in the Official Records.  In no event shall the closing date exceed 
the Outside Closing date as defined herein. 

“Condition of Title” is defined in Section 3.4. 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 4 

“Conveyance” means the transfer of fee title to the Property to Developer.  The 
Conveyance shall occur upon Closing. 

“County” means the County of Los Angeles, California. 

“Declaration” means a Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions 
substantially in the form of Attachment D to be recorded against the Property and the Habitat 
Property at Closing. 

“Developer” means Habitat for Humanity of Greater Los Angeles, a California 
nonprofit public benefit corporation, and any permitted successors and assigns. 

“Developer Indemnitees” means Habitat, and its boards, officers, employees, 
representatives, consultants, contractors and agents. 

“Developer’s Environmental Reports” is defined in Section 3.2.2. 

“Disbursement Request” is defined in Section 4.3. 

“Due Diligence Period” means the time period that begins on the Effective Date 
and ends ninety (90) days from the Effective Date. 

“Due Diligence Reports” means the environmental and other reports regarding the 
Property prepared by or on behalf of the City or in its possession, a complete list of which is set 
forth in Attachment E hereto. 

“Effective Date” means the date this Agreement is executed by City and Developer. 

“Eligible Purchaser” means a household purchasing an Affordable Unit upon 
resale of the Affordable Unit by the Qualified Buyer or a subsequent Eligible Purchaser, which 
such household must (a) qualify as a Low Income Household, as appropriate to the Affordable 
Unit, and (b) meet the other requirements set forth herein for buyers of an Affordable Unit, 
including, without limitation, the requirement that the buyer(s) agree to occupy the Affordable 
Unit as their primary residence and restrict the sale of the Affordable Unit to Eligible Purchasers 
at an Affordable Resale Price for the remaining term of the Affordability Period.   

“Environmental Laws” means any and all present and future federal, state and 
local laws (whether under common law, statute, ordinance, rule, regulation or otherwise), court or 
administrative orders or decrees, requirements of permits issued with respect thereto, and other 
requirements of governmental authorities relating to the environment or to any Hazardous 
Substance or Hazardous Substance Activity (including, without limitation, the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (42 U.S.C. § 9601, et seq.), as 
heretofore or hereafter amended from time to time (“CERCLA”), and the applicable provisions of 
the Health and Safety Code and the Water Code, and any and all successor statutes and regulations, 
orders, decrees, guidelines, or pronouncements promulgated thereunder). 

“Environmental Reports” mean the environment reports and assessments in the 
possession of City set forth in the List of Due Diligence Reports attached hereto as Attachment E. 

“Escrow” is defined in Section 3.3. 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 5 

“Escrow Agent” means a qualified escrow company approved in writing by the 
Parties. 

“Escrow Costs” are defined in Section 3.3. 

“Event of Default” is defined in Section 7.1. 

“Exceptions” is defined in Section 3.4. 

“First Time Homebuyer” means a person who has not owned and occupied their 
own home in the last three years. 

“Governmental Regulations” means all local, state, and federal laws, ordinances, 
rules, requirements, resolutions, policy statements and regulations (including, without limitation, 
those relating to land use, subdivision, zoning, environmental, labor relations, prevailing wage, 
notification of sale to employees, Hazardous Substance, occupational health and safety, water, 
earthquake hazard reduction and building and fire codes; and including all Environmental Laws) 
bearing on the demolition, alteration, replacement, repair, refurbishing, improvement, 
construction, maintenance, management, use, or operation of the Project. 

“Grant” is defined in Section 4.3. 

“Grant Amount” is defined in Section 4.3. 

“Gross Income” shall mean the total annual gross income of all members of a 
Household 18 and over, determined in accordance with Section 6914 of Title 25 of the California 
Code of Regulations. 

“Habitat Property” is defined in Recital C. 

“Habitat Subordinate Mortgage Assistance” means a subordinate mortgage loan 
made by Habitat to a Qualified Buyer for the purchase of an Affordable Unit bearing a fixed 
interest rate and requiring no payments of principal or interest.  The loan and any outstanding 
interest may be assumable by an Eligible Purchaser. Unless assumed by an Eligible Purchaser, all 
outstanding principal and interest shall be due and payable upon the resale of the Affordable Unit.  
The loan shall be subject to such other terms and conditions as agreed to by the Parties. 

“Hazardous Substance” means any substance, material, or waste which is or 
becomes regulated by any local governmental authority, the State of California, or the United 
States Government, including, but not limited to, any material or substance which is (i) defined as 
a “hazardous waste”, “acutely hazardous waste”, “extremely hazardous waste”, or “restricted 
hazardous waste” under Section 25115, 25117 or 25122.7, or listed pursuant to Section 25140 of 
the California Health and Safety Code, Division 20, Chapter 6.5 (Hazardous Waste Control Law), 
(ii) defined as a “hazardous substance” under Section 25316 of the California Health and Safety 
Code, Division 20, Chapter 6.8 (Carpenter-Presley-Tanner Hazardous Substance Account Act), 
(iii) defined as a “hazardous material”, “hazardous substance”, or “hazardous waste” under Section 
25501 of the California Health and Safety Code, Division 20, Chapter 6.95 (Hazardous Materials 
Release Response Plans and Inventory), (iv) defined as a “hazardous substance” under Section 
25281 of the California Health and Safety Code, Division 20, Chapter 6.7 (Underground Storage 
of Hazardous Substances), (v) petroleum, petroleum based products and petroleum additives and 
derived substances, (vi) asbestos and lead based paint, (vii) polychlorinated byphenyls, (viii) listed 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 6 

under Article 9 or defined as “hazardous” or “extremely hazardous” pursuant to Article 11 of Title 
22 of the California Code of Regulations, Chapter 20, (ix) designated as  “hazardous substances” 
pursuant to Section 311 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. Section 1317), (x) defined as a 
“hazardous waste” pursuant to Section 1004 of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 
U.S.C. Section 6901 et seq. (42 U.S.C. Section 6903), (xi) defined as “hazardous substances” 
pursuant to Section 101 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and 
Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. Section 9601 et seq., (xii) methyl-tert butyl ether, (xiii) mold, fungi, 
viruses and bacterial matter, or (xiv) any other toxic substance, whether in the form of a solid, 
liquid, gas or any other form whatsoever, which by any Governmental Regulations either requires 
special handling in its use, transportation, generation, collection, storage, handling, treatment or 
disposal, or is defined as “hazardous” or harmful to human health or the environment. 

“Hazardous Substance Activity” means any actual, proposed or threatened storage, 
holding, existence or suspected existence, release or suspected release, emission, discharge, 
generation, processing, abatement, removal, disposition, treatment, handling or transportation of 
any Hazardous Substance from, under, into, on, above, or across the Property or any other use of 
or operation on the Property that creates a risk of Hazardous Substance contamination of the 
Property. 

“HCD” means the California Department of Housing and Community 
Development or any successor entity. 

“Household” means one or more persons purchasing and occupying a Restricted 
Unit. 

“HUD” shall mean the United States Department of Housing and Urban 
Development. 

“Improvements” shall mean and include any improvement of whatsoever character 
constructed on, around, under or over on the Property existing as of the date of Closing and any 
rehabilitation, construction, demolition, remediation and grading done on the Property by 
Developer subsequent to Closing, as well as all buildings, structures, fixtures, foundations, 
excavation, parking, landscaping, underground installations, and other work, construction and 
improvement of whatsoever character undertaken or constructed on, around, under or over the 
Property by Developer. 

“List of Due Diligence Reports” means the list included in Attachment E hereto.   

“Losses and Liabilities” means and includes all claims, causes of action, liabilities, 
losses, damages (including, without limitation, penalties, fines and monetary sanctions), injuries, 
expenses, charges, penalties or costs of whatsoever character, nature and kind, including 
reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred by the indemnified party with respect to counsel of 
its choice, whether to property or to person, whether by direct or derivative action, and whether 
known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, latent or patent. 

“Low Income Household” means a Household whose annual Gross Income does 
not exceed the California state income limits for a “Low Income” Household (as defined in Health 
and Safety Code Section 50079.5) for Los Angeles County, adjusted for actual Household size, as 
published annually by HCD pursuant to Health and Safety Code Section 50093.  



Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 7 

“Notice” means a notice in the form prescribed by Section 8.1. 

“Official Records” means the official records of the Los Angeles County 
Recorder’s Office. 

“Outside Closing Date” means June 30, 2024.  The Outside Closing Date may 
be extended upon the written approval of the City Manager and Developer. 

“Parties” mean City and Developer; “Party” means City or Developer. 

“Permitted Exceptions” shall mean those encumbrances, liens, taxes, assessments, 
easements, rights of way, leases, covenants, agreements or other exceptions affecting title to the 
Property as of the date of recordation of the City Grant Deed which are not disapproved in writing 
by the Developer.   

“Permitted Mortgage” shall mean a conveyance of a security interest in the 
Property to secure a construction loan to finance the development of the Project, or any conveyance 
of a security interest in a Property to secure any refinancing to the extent it repays a Permitted 
Mortgage Loan, or the conveyance of title to the mortgagee or its assignee in connection with a 
foreclosure or a deed in lieu of foreclosure of such loan. 

“Permitted Mortgage Loan” shall mean the obligations secured by a Permitted 
Mortgage. 

“Permitted Transfer” shall mean assignment of all or any part of this Agreement 
or any right therein, or the sale, agreement to sell, transfer, encumbrance, conveyance or 
assignment of the Property or any portion thereof or interest therein to any of the following: 

a. The granting of easements, licenses or permits to facilitate the
development of the Property; or

b. The encumbrance of the Property by a Permitted Mortgage; or

c. The sale or lease to a Qualified Buyer of any Affordable Unit in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

“Preliminary Title Report” is defined in Section 3.4. 

“Project” means the acquisition of the Property by Developer, and improvement of 
the Property and the Habitat Property by constructing the Improvements such that upon 
completion, the Improvements will consist of thirty-seven (37) newly constructed townhomes, and 
other improvements in accordance with this Agreement. 

“Property Purchase Price” means Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000). 

“Qualified Buyer” means a Household (a) whose income does not exceed the 
income set forth herein for a Low Income Household, as designated herein; (b) whose members 
meet the other requirements set forth herein for buyers of a Restricted Unit, including, without 
limitation, the requirement that the buyer(s) agree to occupy a Restricted Unit as their primary 
residence and restrict the sale of any Affordable Unit to Eligible Purchasers at an Affordable 
Resale Price for the Affordability Period; and (c) whose household members who will be on title 
as owners of the Restricted Unit are First Time Homebuyers as defined herein.  



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 8 

 “Release of Construction Covenants” means a release of construction covenants 
substantially in the form of Attachment G hereto. 

“Representatives” means the agents, employees, members, independent 
contractors, affiliates, principals, shareholders, officers, Executive Directors, council members, 
board members, committee members, and planning and other commissioners, partners, attorneys, 
accountants, representatives, and staff of the referenced entity and the predecessors, heirs, 
successors and assigns of all such persons. 

“Restricted Unit Closing” means the closing of an escrow conveying title to a 
Restricted Unit to a Qualified Buyer. 

“Restricted Units” is defined in Recital E. 

“Right of Entry and License Agreement (Due Diligence)” means a Right of Entry 
and License Agreement in a form acceptable to the parties. 

“Schedule of Performance” means that certain Schedule of Performance attached 
hereto as Attachment F, as may be amended from time to time. 

“Scope of Development” means that certain Scope of Development attached hereto 
as Attachment B, as may be amended from time to time. 

“Title Company” means any qualified title company approved in writing by the 
Parties.  

“Unit” is defined in Recital C.  

1.2. Singular and Plural Terms 

Any defined term used in the plural herein shall refer to all members of the relevant 
class and any defined term used in the singular shall refer to any number of the members of the 
relevant class. 

1.3. Accounting Principles 

Any accounting term used and not specifically defined herein shall be construed in 
conformity with, and all financial data required to be submitted herein shall be prepared in 
conformity with, generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis or in 
accordance with such other principles or methods as are reasonably acceptable to the President of 
Developer. 

1.4. References and Other Terms 

Any reference to any document shall include such document both as originally 
executed and as it may from time to time be modified.  References herein to Sections and 
Attachments shall be construed as references to this Agreement unless a different document is 
named.  References to subparagraphs shall be construed as references to the same Section in which 
the reference appears.  The term “document” is used in its broadest sense and encompasses 
agreements, certificates, opinions, consents, instruments and other written material of every kind.  
The terms “including” and “include” mean “including (include), without limitation.” 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 9 

1.5. Recitals and Attachments Incorporated; Attachments Additional Consideration 

The Recitals are a substantive part of this Agreement, and are hereby incorporated 
by this reference.  All Attachments, as now existing and as the same may from time to time be 
amended or modified, are incorporated herein by this reference.  Each Attachment or agreement 
delivered by City, Developer or another party substantially in the form of an Attachment hereto in 
connection with this Agreement is required as and constitutes consideration for City’s and/or 
Developer’s obligations hereunder. 

1.6. Effective Date 

This Agreement shall become binding and the rights and obligations herein shall 
vest with the respective Parties upon the Effective Date. 

2. REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS 

2.1. Representations by the Developer 

Developer hereby represents and warrants to City as follows: 

2.1.1. Organization 

Habitat is duly organized in the State of California, and validly existing and 
in good standing under the laws of the State of California and has the power and authority to own 
and purchase property and carry on its business as is now being conducted.   

2.1.2. Authority 

Habitat has the legal power, right and authority to execute, deliver and enter 
into this Agreement and any and all other agreements and documents required to be executed and 
delivered by Habitat in order to carry out, give effect to, and consummate the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement, and to perform and observe the terms and provisions of all of the 
above.  The parties who have executed this Agreement and all other documents or instruments 
executed and delivered, or to be executed and delivered, pursuant to this Agreement are authorized 
to execute and deliver the same on behalf of Habitat and all actions required under Habitat’s 
organizational documents and applicable governing law for the authorization, execution, delivery 
and performance of this Agreement and all other documents or instruments executed and delivered, 
or to be executed and delivered pursuant hereto, have been duly taken. 

2.1.3. Valid and Binding Agreements 

This Agreement and all other documents or instruments which have been 
executed and delivered pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement constitute or, if not yet 
executed or delivered, will constitute when so executed and delivered, legal, valid and binding 
obligations of Habitat, enforceable against it in accordance with their respective terms, except as 
enforcement may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or 
other similar laws and court decisions or general principles of equity. 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 10 

2.1.4. Contingent Obligations 

Habitat does not have any contingent obligations or any contractual 
agreements which could materially adversely affect the ability of Habitat to carry out its 
obligations hereunder. 

2.1.5. Litigation 

To Habitat’s knowledge, no action, suit or proceedings are pending or 
threatened before any governmental department, commission, board, bureau, agency or 
instrumentality to which Habitat is or may be made a party or to which any of its property is or 
may become subject, which has not been fully disclosed to the City and which could materially 
adversely affect the ability of Habitat to carry out its obligations hereunder.  

2.1.6. No Conflict 

Habitat’s execution and delivery of this Agreement and any other 
documents or instruments executed and delivered, or to be executed or delivered, pursuant to this 
Agreement, and the performance of any provision, condition, covenant or other term hereof or 
thereof, do not or will not conflict with or result in a breach of any statute, rule or regulation, or 
any judgment, decree or order of any court, board, commission or agency whatsoever binding on 
Habitat, or any provision of the organizational documents of Habitat, or will conflict with or 
constitute a breach of or a default under any agreement to which Habitat is a party, or will result 
in the creation or imposition of any lien upon any assets or property of Habitat, other than liens 
established pursuant hereto. 

2.1.7. No Developer Bankruptcy 

To Habitat’s knowledge, no attachments, execution proceedings, 
assignments for the benefit of creditors, insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization, receivership or 
other proceedings are pending or threatened against Habitat, nor are any of such proceedings 
contemplated by Habitat.  Habitat is able to pay its debts when they come due. 

Each of the foregoing representations shall be deemed to be a representation 
and warranty as of the date of execution of this Agreement and as of the date of Closing.   

2.2. Representations by City 

City hereby represents and warrants to Developer as follows: 

2.2.1. Organization 

City is duly organized in the State of California, and validly existing and in 
good standing under the laws of the State of California and has the power and authority to purchase, 
own and sell property and carry on its business as now being conducted.   

2.2.2. Authority 

City has the legal power, right and authority to execute, deliver and enter 
into this Agreement and any and all other agreements and documents required to be executed and 
delivered by the City in order to carry out, give effect to, and consummate the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement, and to perform and observe the terms and provisions of all of the 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 11 

above.  The parties who have executed this Agreement and all other documents or instruments 
executed and delivered, or to be executed and delivered, pursuant to this Agreement are authorized 
to execute and deliver the same on behalf of the City and all actions required under City’s 
organizational documents and applicable governing law for the authorization, execution, delivery 
and performance of this Agreement and all other documents or instruments executed and delivered, 
or to be executed and delivered pursuant hereto, have been duly taken. 

2.2.3. Valid and Binding Agreements 

This Agreement and all other documents or instruments which have been 
executed and delivered pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement constitute or, if not yet 
executed or delivered, will constitute when so executed and delivered, legal, valid and binding 
obligations of City, enforceable against it in accordance with their respective terms, except as 
enforcement may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or 
other similar laws and court decisions or general principles of equity. 

2.2.4. Title to Property.   

City holds good and marketable title to the Property, and upon the 
recordation of the City Grant Deed, the Developer will have good and marketable title to the 
Property and there will exist thereon or with respect thereto no mortgage, lien, pledge or other 
encumbrance of any character whatsoever other than those liens approved by the Developer, liens 
for current real property taxes and assessments not yet due and payable, and liens in favor of the 
Developer or approved in writing by the Developer. 

2.2.5. Contingent Obligations 

City does not have any contingent obligations or any contractual agreements 
which could materially adversely affect the ability of the City to carry out its obligations hereunder. 

2.2.6. Litigation 

To City’s knowledge, no action, suit or proceedings are pending or 
threatened before any governmental department, commission, board, bureau, agency or 
instrumentality to which City is or may be made a party or to which any of its property is or may 
become subject, which has not been fully disclosed to Developer and which could materially 
adversely affect the ability of the City to carry out its obligations hereunder.  

2.2.7. No Conflict 

City’s execution and delivery of this Agreement and any other documents 
or instruments executed and delivered, or to be executed or delivered, pursuant to this Agreement, 
and the performance of any provision, condition, covenant or other term hereof or thereof, do not 
or will not conflict with or result in a breach of any statute, rule or regulation, or any judgment, 
decree or order of any court, board, commission or agency whatsoever binding on City, or any 
provision of the organizational documents of City, or will conflict with or constitute a breach of 
or a default under any agreement to which City is a party, or will result in the creation or imposition 
of any lien upon any assets or property of City, other than liens established pursuant hereto. 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 12 

2.2.8. No City Bankruptcy 

To City’s knowledge, no attachments, execution proceedings, assignments 
for the benefit of creditors, insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization, receivership or other 
proceedings are pending or threatened against the City, nor are any of such proceedings 
contemplated by City. 

2.3. Limitation Upon Change in Ownership, Management and Control of Developer 

2.3.1. Prohibition 

The identity and qualification of Developer as an experienced and 
successful residential housing developer are of particular concern to the City.  It is because of this 
identity and these qualifications that City has entered into this Agreement with the Developer.  No 
voluntary or involuntary successor in interest of Developer shall acquire any rights or powers 
under this Agreement by assignment, operation of law or otherwise, nor shall Developer make any 
total or partial sale, transfer, conveyance, encumbrance to secure financing (excluding, without 
limitation, the grant of a deed of trust to secure funds necessary for construction financing of the 
Project), distribution, assignment or lease of the whole or any part of the Property or any material 
change in the management or control of Developer (including, without limitation, a change in the 
identity of the Developer, or a change in the management or control of Developer) prior to the sale 
of the Restricted Units to a Qualified Buyer except as expressly set forth herein. Any purported 
transfer, voluntary or by operation of law, in violation of this Section 2.3 shall constitute a default 
hereunder and shall be void and City shall have the cumulative options to terminate this 
Agreement, and to seek all remedies available at law or equity.  No transfer or assignment shall 
relieve the Developer from its obligations hereunder.   

2.3.2. Permitted Transfers by Developer 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the 
prior approval of City for a conveyance of the Property or any interest therein or part thereof shall 
not be required in connection with a Permitted Transfer. 

2.3.3. City Consideration of Requested Transfer 

Developer shall provide City with at least sixty (60) days prior written 
notice of its intent to assign, finance, refinance or transfer the Property (excluding a Permitted 
Transfer or any proposed sale of a Unit in accordance with Section 5 hereof) or this Agreement or 
effect a material change in the management or control of Developer and shall request any approval 
sought for such assignment or transfer.  The notice shall be accompanied by evidence regarding 
the proposed transferee’s development, operation and management qualifications and experience 
and its financial commitments and resources. 

After receipt of Developer’s written request for City approval of an 
assignment or transfer pursuant to this Section 2.3.3, City shall use commercially reasonable 
efforts to promptly respond in writing (but in no event later than thirty (30) days) either approving 
the proposed assignee or transferee or requesting further information required by City in order to 
determine whether or not to grant the requested approval.  Upon receipt of such a request for 
further information, Developer shall promptly furnish to City such requested information. 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 13 

2.3.4. Successors and Assigns 

All of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Agreement shall be 
binding upon Developer and any permitted successors and assigns of Developer, except in the case 
of the sale of a Restricted Unit in accordance with Section 5. 

3. DISPOSITION OF SITE; ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 

3.1. Transfer of Property 

City is the owner in fee of the Property.  In consideration of payment of the Property 
Purchase Price and such other covenants and consideration as set forth in this Agreement, and 
upon satisfaction of City’s Conditions Precedent to Closing, City shall convey the fee interest in 
the Property to Developer.  The Closing shall occur no later than the Outside Closing Date.  City 
shall convey all of City’s interest in the Property to Developer by execution of the City Grant 
Deed. 

3.2. Condition of the Property; Environmental 

3.2.1. Disclosure 

Prior to Closing, City shall deliver to Developer copies of the Due 
Diligence Reports.  Other than as may be set forth in the list of Environmental Reports included 
in the List of Due Diligence Reports set forth herein, City hereby represents and warrants to 
Developer that City has not received any prior written notice or communication from any 
government agencies having jurisdiction over the Property, notifying City or any third party of, 
and City has no actual knowledge of, the presence of surface or subsurface zone Hazardous 
Materials in, on, or under the Property, or any portion thereof. 

3.2.2. Developer’s Investigation of the Property 

Developer shall have the opportunity to investigate the condition of the 
Property during the Due Diligence Period.  Developer may elect to proceed with the Closing prior 
to the expiration of the Due Diligence Period.  Developer represents that except for the 
indemnifications, representations, warranties and covenants of City contained in this Agreement, 
it has relied and shall rely solely upon (i) its own expertise and that of Developer’s consultants in 
purchasing the Property, and (ii) Developer’s own knowledge of the Property based on its 
investigations and inspections.  Developer has conducted, or by the Closing will conduct, such 
inspections and investigations of the Property as Developer deemed or shall deem necessary, 
including, but not limited to, the physical and environmental conditions of the Property and shall 
rely upon same.  Developer acknowledges and agrees that except for the indemnifications, 
representations and warranties of City herein, upon Closing, City shall sell and convey to 
Developer and Developer shall accept the Property “as is, where is,” with all faults and defects 
(latent and apparent).  Except for the indemnifications, representations and warranties of City 
contained herein and in any documents executed and delivered by City at Closing pursuant to this 
Agreement, Developer further acknowledges and agrees that there are no oral agreements, 
warranties or representations, collateral to or affecting the Property by City or any agent, employee 
or contractor of City or any third party.  Developer acknowledges that the Property Purchase Price 
reflects the “as is” nature of this sale and any faults, liabilities, defects or other adverse matters 
that may be associated with the Properties.   



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 14 

During Developer’s Due Diligence Period, representatives of Developer 
shall have the right to access the Property during regular business hours and upon reasonable 
Notice to City for the purpose of obtaining data and conducting surveys and tests necessary to 
reasonably assess the suitability of the Property for the Project.  Any surveys and tests conducted 
on the Property by Developer’s representatives shall be done at the sole expense of Developer and 
only after (i) Developer has secured any necessary permits from the appropriate governmental 
agencies and (ii) Developer has delivered to City a copy of the Right of Entry and License 
Agreement (Due Diligence) fully executed and acknowledged by Developer and satisfied the 
conditions precedent to Developer’s entry onto the Property set forth therein. 

During the Due Diligence Period, Developer shall have the right, at its sole 
cost and expense, to engage its own environmental consultant (“Developer’s Environmental 
Consultant”), to make such investigations as Developer deems necessary, including without 
limitation any “Phase 1” and/or “Phase 2” investigations of the Property or any portion thereof, 
and City shall promptly be provided a copy of all reports and test results provided by Developer’s 
Environmental Consultant (the “Developer’s Environmental Reports”). 

3.2.3. Developer Approval or Disapproval of Condition of Property 

(A) Physical Condition of Property.  Developer shall approve or 
disapprove of the physical condition of the Property within Developer’s Due Diligence Period.  
Developer’s approval of the physical condition of the Property shall be both a City’s and a 
Developer’s Condition Precedent to the Closing. If Developer, based upon Developer’s soils and 
engineering reports, disapproves of the physical condition of the Property, then Developer may, in 
Developer’s sole discretion, terminate the Escrow and this Agreement by written Notice to City.  

(B) Environmental Condition of Property.  In addition, Developer shall 
approve or disapprove of the environmental condition of the Property within Developer’s Due 
Diligence Period.  Developer’s approval of the environmental condition of the Property shall be 
both a City’s and Developer’s Condition Precedent to the Closing.  If Developer disapproves of 
the environmental condition of the Property, then Developer may terminate the Escrow and this 
Agreement by written Notice to City.   

(C) Notice to Proceed or Terminate.  Prior to the termination of 
Developer’s Due Diligence Period, Developer may deliver to City and Escrow Agent either (i) 
Notice of Developer’s intention to proceed with the acquisition of the Property (“Developer’s 
Notice to Proceed”), or (ii) Notice of Developer’s intention to terminate Escrow and this 
Agreement (“Developer’s Notice to Terminate”).  Escrow for the Property and this Agreement 
shall terminate upon delivery of Developer’s Notice to Terminate.  If Developer elects to complete 
the Closing, Developer shall be deemed to have accepted the environmental, physical and other 
conditions of the Property upon the Closing. 

3.2.4. Required Disclosures After Closing 

After the Closing, Developer shall notify City, and provide to City a copy 
or copies, of all environmental permits, disclosures, applications, entitlements or inquiries relating 
to the Property, including notices of violation, notices to comply, citations, inquiries, clean-up or 
abatement orders, cease and desist orders, reports filed pursuant to self-reporting requirements and 
reports filed or applications made pursuant to any Governmental Requirement relating to 
Hazardous Materials and underground tanks. 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 15 

Developer shall report to City, reasonably promptly after each incident, any 
unusual or potentially important incidents with respect to the environmental condition of the 
Property.  In the event of a release of any Hazardous Materials into the environment, Developer 
shall, reasonably promptly after the release, furnish to City a copy of any and all reports relating 
thereto and copies of all correspondence with governmental agencies relating to the release.  Upon 
request, Developer shall furnish to City a copy or copies of any and all other environmental 
entitlements or inquiries relating to or affecting the Property including, but not limited to, all permit 
applications, permits and reports. 

3.2.5. Duty to Prevent Hazardous Material Contamination 

After the Closing, Developer shall take all reasonably customary and 
necessary precautions to prevent the release of any Hazardous Substance onto the Property or into 
the environment in connection with the use or development thereof in violation of applicable 
Governmental Regulations.  Such precautions shall include complying with and causing all 
activities on the Property to comply with all Governmental Regulations with respect to Hazardous 
Substance.  In addition, the Developer shall install and utilize such equipment and implement and 
adhere to all procedures, requirements and restrictions imposed by Governmental Regulations 
pertaining to the disclosure, storage, use, removal and disposal of Hazardous Substance.  
Developer further covenants that it shall not, except for customary materials used and applied in 
accordance with all Governmental Regulations and in the ordinary course of constructing, 
maintaining and operating the Improvements or customarily utilized by households for domestic 
purposes in accordance with all Governmental Regulations, (i) deposit Hazardous Substance in, 
on or upon the Property, in violation of any applicable Governmental Regulations, nor (ii) permit 
the deposit of Hazardous Substance in, on or upon the Property in violation of any applicable 
Governmental Regulations. 

3.2.6. Environmental Inquiries 

In the event that, after Closing, Developer discovers the presence of 
Hazardous Substance under or upon the Property in violation of applicable Governmental 
Regulations, or there is a release of Hazardous Substance on or from the Property, the Developer 
shall provide to City a copy of any environmental permits, disclosures, applications, entitlements 
or inquiries relating to such Hazardous Substance, including any notices of violation, notices to 
comply, citations, inquiries, clean up or abatement orders, cease and desist orders, reports filed 
pursuant to self reporting requirements and reports filed or applications made pursuant to any 
Governmental Regulations relating to Hazardous Substance and underground tanks including, 
specifically, without limitation, the following: 

i. All required reports of releases of Hazardous Substance, including 
notices of any release of Hazardous Substance as required by any Governmental Regulations; 

ii. All notices of suspension of any environmental permits; 

iii. All notices of violation from federal, state or local environmental 
authorities;  

iv. All orders under the State Hazardous Waste Control Act and the 
State Hazardous Substance Account Act and corresponding federal statutes, concerning 
investigation, compliance schedules, clean up, or other remedial actions;  



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 16 

v. All orders under the Porter Cologne Act, including corrective action 
orders, cease and desist orders, and clean up and abatement orders; 

vi. Any notices of violation from OSHA or Cal OSHA concerning 
employees’ exposure to Hazardous Materials; and 

vii. All complaints and other pleadings filed against the Developer 
relating to the Developer’s storage, use, transportation, handling or disposal of Hazardous 
Substance on the Property. 

In the event that a release of Hazardous Substance into the environment 
occurs on the Property following the Closing in violation of applicable Governmental Regulations, 
the Developer shall promptly and fully remediate such Hazardous Substance in accordance with 
all Governmental Regulations.  Upon request of City, the Developer shall furnish to City a copy 
of any and all other environmental documents or inquiries relating to or affecting the Property 
from time to time during Developer’s ownership or possession thereof. 

3.3. Escrow 

Not later than thirty (30) days after the Effective Date, the Parties shall open escrow 
(the “Escrow”) for the Conveyance with Escrow Company. 

Developer shall pay the customary and usual Escrow fees, charges and costs which 
arise from the Escrow (the “Escrow Costs”), and prepare and enter into such escrow instructions 
as are reasonably acceptable to Developer, City and Escrow Agent. 

3.4. Review of Title 

Not later than thirty (30) days after the Effective Date, City shall cause Title 
Company or another title company mutually acceptable to the Parties to deliver to Developer a 
standard preliminary title report with respect to the Property, together with legible copies of the 
documents underlying the exceptions (the “Exceptions”) set forth in the Preliminary Title Report 
(collectively, the “Preliminary Title Report”). 

Developer shall have sixty (60) days from receipt of the Preliminary Title Report 
to give Notice to City and the Escrow Agent of Developer’s approval or disapproval of the 
Preliminary Title Report, including without limitation any Exceptions.  If Developer notifies City 
of Developer’s disapproval of any items with respect to the Preliminary Title Report, City shall 
have the right, but not the obligation, to remove any disapproved items after receiving Notice of 
Developer’s disapproval or provide assurances reasonably satisfactory to Developer that such 
items will be removed or remedied on or before the Closing.  City shall exercise such right by 
Notice to Developer within ten (10) days of receipt of Notice from Developer of Developer’s 
disapproval.  If City cannot or does not elect to remove any disapproved items, Developer shall 
have ten (10) days after the expiration of City’s ten (10) day election period to either (i) give City 
Notice that Developer intends to proceed with the Conveyance subject to the disapproved items or 
(ii) give City Notice that Developer does not elect to accept the Conveyance and elects to terminate 
the Escrow and this Agreement, whereupon any sums deposited by Developer into Escrow and all 
interest earned thereon shall be returned to Developer. 

The Exceptions to title approved by Developer as provided herein shall hereinafter 
be referred to as the “Permitted Exceptions” and/or the “Condition of Title.”  Developer shall 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 17 

have the right to approve or disapprove in the manner provided in this Section any Exception 
reported by the Title Company or otherwise discovered after Developer has approved the 
Condition of Title (which are not created by Developer). 

3.5. Title Insurance 

Concurrently with the Closing, the Title Company shall issue and deliver to 
Developer, at Developer’s cost, a CLTA owner’s policy of title insurance, together with the 
Additional Endorsements (the “Title Policy”), insuring that ownership of the Property is vested in 
Habitat.  The Title Policy shall be in such amount as is reasonably requested by Developer; 
provided, however, that the Title Company shall, if requested by Developer, provide any 
endorsements reasonably requested by Developer (the “Additional Endorsements”).  The cost of 
the Additional Endorsements shall be borne by Developer.  City shall cooperate with and assist 
Developer in obtaining any Additional Endorsements, including any required indemnities that are 
customary and reasonable, or special coverage reasonably requested by Developer.  

3.6. Submittals into Escrow 

The Parties shall submit documents and funds into Escrow as set forth in this 
Section. 

3.6.1. Submittals by Developer 

At least five (5) Business Days prior to Closing, Developer shall submit 
(or take such action as to cause) into Escrow the following: 

(A) One originally executed copy of the City Grant Deed, duly executed 
by Developer and acknowledged. 

(B) The Declaration, duly executed by Habitat and acknowledged. 

(C) Any other documents or other deliverables reasonably requested by 
City or the Escrow Agent. 

(D) Funds sufficient to cover the Purchase Price, and costs of Escrow 
and Title to be paid by Developer in accordance herewith. 

3.6.2. Submittals by City 

At least five (5) Business Days prior to Closing, City shall submit into 
Escrow the following: 

(A) The City Grant Deed, duly executed by City and acknowledged. 

(B) The Declaration, duly executed by City and acknowledged. 

(C) A non-foreign transferor affidavit in a form acceptable to Escrow 
Agent. 

(D) Any other documents or other deliverables reasonably requested by 
Developer or the Escrow Agent. 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 18 

3.7. Conditions Precedent to Closing 

Closing is conditioned upon satisfaction of the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Section.   

3.7.1. City’s Conditions.   

City’s obligation to close Escrow and convey the Property to Developer is 
conditioned upon the satisfaction or written waiver by City of each and every one of the conditions 
precedent (A) through (G), inclusive, described below (“City’s Conditions Precedent to 
Closing”), which are solely for the benefit of City, and which shall be satisfied or waived by the 
time periods provided for herein.  City at its option may terminate this Agreement without notice 
and/or opportunity to cure if any of the conditions precedent set forth below are not satisfied by 
the Developer or waived in writing by City by the Outside Closing Date. 

(A) Physical Condition of Property.  Developer shall not have elected to 
cancel Escrow and terminate this Agreement due to the physical condition of the Property and 
shall not have delivered to City a Developer’s Notice to Terminate. 

(B) Environmental Condition of Property.  Developer shall not have 
elected to cancel Escrow and terminate this Agreement due to the environmental condition of the 
Property and shall not have delivered to City a Developer’s Notice to Terminate. 

(C) Execution of City Documents.  Developer shall have executed and 
delivered into Escrow the City Grant Deed, the Declaration, and such other documents as may be 
reasonably requested by City in connection therewith and all of which shall be in a form acceptable 
to City. 

(D) No Litigation.  No litigation shall be pending or threatened by any 
third parties which seeks to enjoin the transactions contemplated herein. 

(E) No Default.  There shall exist no condition, event or act which would 
constitute an event of default by Developer under this Agreement, or which, upon the giving of 
notice or the passage of time, or both, would constitute an event of default. 

(F) Representations and Warranties.  All representations and warranties 
of Developer herein contained and contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct as if made 
on and as of the date of Closing. 

(G) Purchase Price.  Developer shall have deposited into Escrow the 
Property Purchase Price, plus any other funds required by Escrow or Title in connection with the 
Closing. 

3.7.2. Developer’s Conditions 

Developer’s obligation to close Escrow on the Property is conditioned upon 
the satisfaction or written waiver by Developer of each and every one of the conditions precedent 
(A) through (H), inclusive, described below (the “Developer’s Conditions Precedent to 
Closing”), which are solely for the benefit of Developer, and which shall be satisfied or waived 
by the time periods provided for herein: 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 19 

(A) Physical Condition of Property.  Developer shall not have elected to 
cancel Escrow and terminate this Agreement due to the physical condition of the Property and 
shall not have delivered a Developer’s Notice to Terminate to City. 

(B) Environmental Condition of Property.  Prior to the expiration of the 
Developer’s Due Diligence Period, Developer shall not have elected to cancel Escrow and 
terminate this Agreement due to the environmental condition of the Property and shall not have 
delivered a written notice not to proceed to City. 

(C) Execution of Documents.  City shall have executed and delivered 
into Escrow the City Grant Deed, the Declaration, and any other documents required by Habitat, 
Escrow or Title to which City is a signatory or Party in accordance herewith. 

(D) Review and Approval of Title.  Developer shall have reviewed and 
approved the Condition of Title, as provided in Section 3.4 of this Agreement. 

(E) Title Policy.  The Title Company shall, upon payment of the Title 
Company’s regularly scheduled premium, be irrevocably committed to issue a Title Policy to 
Developer, including any Additional Endorsements, in accordance with Section 3.5 of this 
Agreement. 

(F) No Litigation.  No litigation shall be pending or threatened by any 
third parties which seeks to enjoin the transactions contemplated herein. 

(G) No Default.  There shall exist no condition, event or act which would 
constitute an event of default by City under the Agreement, or which, upon the giving of notice or 
the passage of time, or both, would constitute an event of default. 

(H) Representations and Warranties.  All representations and warranties 
of City herein contained and contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct as if made on 
and as of the date of Closing. 

3.7.3. Termination of Escrow 

Escrow may be terminated as set forth in this Section. 

(A) Developer’s Notice to Terminate during Developer’s Due Diligence 
Period.  In the Event that Developer delivers a Developer’s Notice to Terminate to City prior to 
the expiration of Developer’s Due Diligence Period, Escrow shall be terminated, City shall pay all 
escrow termination charges and this Agreement shall be terminated.   

(B) Escrow Not in Condition to Close.  If the Escrow is not in a 
condition to close by the Outside Closing Date or such later date as may be agreed to by the Parties, 
for a reason other than a default hereunder by either party, then either Party which has fully 
performed under this Agreement may, in writing, demand the return of money, documents or 
property and terminate the Escrow and this Agreement.  If either Party makes a written demand 
for the return of its money, documents or property, this Agreement shall not terminate until ten 
(10) business days after the Escrow Agent shall have delivered copies of such demand to the other 
Party at the respective addresses set forth in this Agreement.  If any objections are raised by written 
Notice within such ten (10) day period, the Escrow Agent is authorized to hold all money, 
documents or property until instructed by a court of competent jurisdiction or by mutual written 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 20 

instructions of the Parties.  If no such objections are timely made, the Escrow Agent shall 
immediately return the demanded money and/or documents, and the escrow cancellation charges 
shall be paid by the undemanding Party.  Termination of the Escrow shall be without prejudice as 
to whatever legal rights, if any, either Party may have against the other arising from this 
Agreement.  If no demands are made, the Escrow Agent shall proceed with the Closing as soon as 
possible consistent with the terms of this Agreement.   

3.7.4. Close of Escrow 

Provided that both Developer’s Conditions Precedent to Closing and the 
City’s Conditions Precedent to Closing have been satisfied or waived in writing, the Conveyance 
of the Property shall close.  The Closing shall occur on or before the Outside Closing Date.   

3.8. Indemnification 

3.8.1. By Developer 

Following the Conveyance, Developer agrees to save, protect, defend, 
indemnify and hold harmless the City Indemnitees from and against any and all Losses and 
Liabilities (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ and consultants’ fees, investigation 
and laboratory fees, and remedial and response costs), but excluding the extent to which such loss 
or liability arises from the active negligence or intentional misconduct of City, which may now or 
in the future be incurred or suffered by the City Indemnitees, in connection with, by reason of, 
resulting from or arising in any manner whatsoever as a direct or indirect result of (i) the ownership 
(or possession) by Developer of all or any part of the Property for purposes of any Governmental 
Regulations regulating Hazardous Substance released onto the Property following the 
Conveyance, (ii) any act or omission on the part of Developer, or its representatives, contractors, 
volunteers, or invitees with respect to the Property, (iii) as a result of the death of any person or 
any accident, injury, loss, or damage whatsoever caused to any person or to the property of any 
person resulting from the alleged negligent or intentional acts or omissions of Developer, its 
officers, agents, volunteers, contractors or employees, in the performance of its obligations under 
this Agreement, (iv) the presence on or under, or the escape, seepage, leakage, spillage, discharge, 
emission or release from the Property of any Hazardous Substance first released and/or occurring 
on the Property following the Conveyance, (v) any environmental or other condition of the 
Property relating to any Hazardous Substance first released and/or occurring following the 
Conveyance, and (vi) any Losses and Liabilities incurred with respect to the Property under any 
Governmental Regulations relating to Hazardous Substance first released and/or occurring on the 
Property following the Conveyance.  Developer’s obligations under this Section shall survive any 
Restricted Unit Closing or any termination of this Agreement. 

3.8.2. By City 

Following the Conveyance, City agrees to save, protect, defend, indemnify 
and hold harmless the Developer Indemnitees from and against any and all Losses and Liabilities 
(including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ and consultants’ fees, investigation and 
laboratory fees, and remedial and response costs), but excluding the extent to which such loss or 
liability arises from the active negligence or intentional misconduct of Developer, which may now 
or in the future be incurred or suffered by Developer, in connection with, by reason of, resulting 
from or arising in any manner whatsoever as a direct or indirect result of (i) the ownership (or 
possession) of all or any part of the Property for purposes of any Governmental Regulations 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 21 

regulating Hazardous Substance released and/or occurring on the Property before the Conveyance, 
(ii) any act or omission on the part of City, or its Representatives, contractors or invitees with 
respect to the Property, (iii) the presence on or under, or the escape, seepage, leakage, spillage, 
discharge, emission or release from the Property of any Hazardous Substance first released and/or 
occurring on the Property before the Conveyance, (iv) any environmental or other condition of the 
Property first released and/or occurring before the Conveyance, and (v) any Losses and Liabilities 
incurred with respect to the Property under any Governmental Regulations relating to Hazardous 
Substance first released and/or occurring on the Property before the Conveyance.  City’s 
obligations under this Section shall survive any Restricted Unit Closing or any termination of this 
Agreement. 

3.9. Occupants of the Property 

The interest to be conveyed in the Property by City to Developer shall be conveyed 
free of any possession or right of possession except that of Developer. 

4. DEVELOPMENT OF THE SITE 

4.1. Scope of Development 

Developer covenants and agrees to construct on the Property and the Habitat 
Property at least thirty-seven (37) newly built townhomes and related improvements.  The 
specifications of the Units and the Project shall be as set forth in the Scope of Development.   

4.2. Construction of Improvements 

Following the Closing, Developer shall promptly begin and thereafter diligently 
prosecute to completion the construction of the Project as provided in the Scope of Development. 

4.3. Off-Site Improvements and Grant 

In connection with the construction of the Project, City is requiring certain offsite 
improvements, as set forth in the Conditions of Approval issued by the City (the “Work”). In 
consideration of the construction of the Project on the Property, City hereby grants to Developer 
(the “Grant”) up to Seven Hundred Sixty Thousand Six Hundred Dollars ($760,600) (including 
any increases which may be approved by City, the “Grant Amount”) to perform the Work.  If the 
cost of the Work exceeds the Grant Amount, Developer shall not be required to fund the remainder 
of the Work; instead, Developer shall be permitted to apply for an increase in the Grant Amount.  
City shall not unreasonably condition, withhold or delay approval of a request for an increase in 
the Grant Amount.   

Developer shall submit disbursement requests (each, a “Disbursement Request”) 
to City for Grant funds as it develops the Project and performs the Work.  Each Disbursement 
Request shall set forth a description of the Work for which Grant funds are sought, and supporting 
documentation for the cost of the Work in such form as is reasonably acceptable to City.  Developer 
shall submit Disbursement Requests no more frequently than monthly.  City shall not unreasonably 
withhold or delay approval of any Disbursement Request.  City shall process Disbursement 
Requests and release Grant funds to Developer within thirty (30) days of receipt of a Disbursement 
Request.  Developer covenants and agrees to use the Grant proceeds solely to perform the Work. 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 22 

4.4. Land Use Restrictions 

The Developer shall construct the Project consistent with applicable Governmental 
Regulations, including (without limitation) all applicable zoning, planning and design review 
requirements of the City and all permits and entitlements relating thereto.   

4.5. Permits and Entitlements 

Prior to commencement of any work of improvement upon the Property, the 
Developer shall, at its own expense, secure or cause to be secured any and all permits, entitlements 
or approvals which may be required by the City of Lakewood in accordance with its Municipal 
Code and land use entitlement process and by any other governmental entity with jurisdiction over 
the Property and/or the Project in accordance with applicable Governmental Regulations.   

4.6. Materials 

Developer shall construct the Units using sustainable materials and 
environmentally friendly building practices and will obtain and install energy saving appliances.   

4.7. Preparation 

Developer shall perform all preparation of the Property following the Closing.  The 
Developer shall carry out or cause to be carried out such activities in compliance with all applicable 
Governmental Regulations.   

4.8. Bodily Injury and Property Damage Indemnification 

Developer agrees to and shall defend, indemnify and hold the City Indemnitees 
harmless from and against all liability, loss, damage, costs, or expenses (including without 
limitation attorneys’ fees and costs) arising from or as a result of the death of any person or any 
accident, injury, loss, or damage whatsoever caused to any person or to the property of any person 
resulting from the acts or omissions of Developer, its officers, agents or employees in the 
performance of its obligations under this Agreement, except to the extent of any active negligence 
or intentional misconduct of City or its Representatives. 

4.9. Compliance with Laws 

4.9.1. General 

Developer shall comply with all Governmental Regulations in the 
construction, use and operation of the Project, including all applicable federal, state and local 
statutes, ordinances, regulations and laws, including without limitation, all applicable federal, 
state, and local labor standards, zoning and development standards, building, plumbing, 
mechanical and electrical codes, and all other provisions of the applicable Municipal Code, and all 
applicable disabled and handicapped access requirements, including without limitation the 
Americans With Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., Government Code § 4450, et seq., 
and Government Code § 11135, et seq. 

4.9.2. Nondiscrimination in Employment 

Developer certifies and agrees that all persons employed or applying for 
employment by it, its affiliates, subsidiaries, or holding companies, and all subcontractors, bidders 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 23 

and vendors, are and will be treated equally by it without regard to, or because of race, color, 
religion, ancestry, national origin, sex, age, pregnancy, childbirth or related medical condition, 
medical condition (cancer related) or physical or mental disability, and in compliance with Title 
VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000, et seq., the Federal Equal Pay Act of 1963, 
29 U.S.C. § 206(d), the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, 29 U.S.C. § 621, et seq., 
the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, 8 U.S.C. § 1324b, et seq., 42 U.S.C. § 1981, the 
California Fair Employment and Housing Act, Government Code § 12900, et seq., the California 
Equal Pay Law, Labor Code § 1197.5, Government Code § 11135, the Americans with Disabilities 
Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and all other applicable anti-discrimination laws and regulations 
of the United States and the State of California as they now exist or may hereafter be amended. 

4.10. Local, State and Federal Laws 

Developer hereby agrees to carry out development, construction (as defined by 
applicable law) and operation of the Improvements on the Property, including, without limitation, 
any and all public works (as defined by applicable law), in conformity with all applicable federal 
and state labor laws.  City acknowledges and agrees that Developer’s business model contemplates 
the use of donated labor and materials, and, as such, volunteers are not paid wages by Developer. 

4.11. Release of Construction Covenants 

Upon the completion of construction of the Restricted Units in accordance 
herewith, Developer shall request, and City shall deliver (which delivery shall not be unreasonably 
withheld or delayed) a Release of Construction Covenants, which shall be promptly recorded in 
the Official Records.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event required to transfer a Restricted 
Unit to a Qualified Buyer in accordance herewith, such Release of Construction Covenants may 
be requested and delivered for one or more Restricted Units individually. 

5. SALE OF THE UNITS 

5.1. Sales; Proceeds 

Developer acknowledges that the purpose of the conveyance of the Property is to 
encourage affordable homeownership among Qualified Buyers.  Pursuant to such purpose, upon 
the completion of construction of each Restricted Unit, and notwithstanding that the contract price 
for the sale of the Units shall be at fair market value, the terms of the financing utilized in the sale 
of each Affordable Unit shall result in an Affordable Housing Cost to the Qualified Buyer of each 
Restricted Unit consistent with applicable requirements of this Agreement, and all applicable 
Governmental Regulations at the time of sale of the Restricted Unit.   

The purchase price of the Restricted Unit shall be financed by the Qualified Buyer 
with a combination of a conventional first priority mortgage loan from a third party commercial 
lender at a fixed rate of interest requiring level annual payments of principal and interest over thirty 
(30) years, and such other subordinate “silent” loans and grants which may or may not require 
periodic payments of principal and interest as are available (such as CalHOME, WISH, or a Habitat 
subordinate loan) to assist the Qualified Buyer at the Restricted Unit Closing to purchase the 
Restricted Unit and pay escrow, title and other closing costs.  Developer shall be entitled to retain 
all cash proceeds of the sales of the Restricted Units. 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 24 

Developer covenants and agrees to sell the following Units to the following groups 
of Qualified Buyers: 

(i) thirty-seven (37) Units shall be held for sale and sold to Low Income 
Households. 

5.2. Qualified Buyer Requirements 

Subject to the requirements of all applicable Governmental Regulations, upon the 
sale of the Restricted Units, any proposed Qualified Buyer must (i) demonstrate qualification as a 
Qualified Buyer; (ii) agree to occupy the Restricted Unit as his or her primary residence at all times 
during the Affordability Period; and (iii) agree to the resale and other restrictions set forth herein 
and in the Declaration.  The proposed buyer must be legally residing in the United States and have 
appropriate documentation demonstrating such legal residence. 

5.3. Initial Sale of Units 

Developer shall be permitted to sell the Restricted Units at fair market value, 
provided that the financing used to purchase the Restricted Unit results in an Affordable Housing 
Cost.  The Qualified Buyer shall be required to obtain a conventional, third party mortgage for a 
portion of the purchase price, plus one or more subordinate loans which may or may not require 
monthly payments, provided that the total of all payments do not exceed an Affordable Housing 
Cost.  After completion of the Project, Developer shall sell and transfer title to the Restricted Units 
in the Project to Qualified Buyers in accordance with the procedures set forth herein. 

5.4. Determining Qualified Buyer Status 

Developer shall not sell or otherwise transfer a Restricted Unit until such time as 
Developer has satisfied the conditions set forth in this Agreement, including the requirement that 
the proposed buyer of a Restricted Unit provide evidence that it is a Qualified Buyer.  Developer 
shall be responsible to determine whether a proposed buyer is a Qualified Buyer.  In order to verify 
the buyer’s status as a Qualified Buyer, Developer shall obtain the identity of the proposed buyers 
and adequate information evidencing the income of the proposed buyer Household and the buyer’s 
Household status as a Qualified Buyer.  Said information shall be obtained not less than six (6) 
months prior to the proposed transfer and shall include original or true copies of pay stubs, income 
tax records or other financial documents.  Said information shall be sufficient for Developer to 
verify the Household income and eligibility of the proposed buyer as a Qualified Buyer, and to 
perform a calculation as to whether the Restricted Unit is available to such buyer at an Affordable 
Housing Cost. Developer shall request any additional information reasonably required to verify 
the proposed buyer’s Qualified Buyer status.   

5.4.1. Qualified Buyer Selection 

Developer covenants and agrees to select Qualified Buyers in accordance 
with this Agreement.  In addition, the tenant selection policies and criteria shall: 

(1) Be consistent with the purpose of providing housing for Low 
Income Households; 

(2) Be reasonably related to program eligibility and the applicants’ 
ability to perform the obligations of the mortgage(s); 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 25 

(3) Provide for the selection of buyers in accordance with a written plan.  

(4) Give prompt written notification to any rejected applicant of the 
grounds for any rejection. 

5.4.2. Income of Qualified Buyer of the Affordable Units; Affordable Housing 
Cost 

Developer shall obtain a completed income computation and certification 
form from the prospective buyer(s) of the Restricted Units, together with a copy of all back-up 
supporting information, in such form as may be reasonably determined by Developer.  Developer 
shall not transfer title to the Restricted Unit to a prospective buyer(s) until the conditions set forth 
herein have been satisfied.  Developer shall obtain a certification from each Household purchasing 
a Restricted Unit demonstrating that such Household is a Qualified Buyer, will occupy the 
Restricted Unit as its primary residence at all times and meets the eligibility requirements 
established for the Restricted Unit.  Developer shall prepare a computation demonstrating that the 
Restricted Unit will be sold to the prospective buyer with financing resulting in an Affordable 
Housing Cost.  Developer shall verify the income certifications and computations by obtaining 
appropriate supporting documentation. 

Developer shall obtain one or more of the following, as appropriate to the 
Household of the proposed buyer(s): 

a. three (3) paycheck stubs from the proposed purchaser’s three (3) most 
recent pay periods (and the same from any other member of the Household eighteen (18) years old 
or older);  

b. a true copy of an income tax return from the proposed purchaser for the 
most recent tax year in which a return was filed (and the same from any other member of the 
Household eighteen (18) years old or older); 

c. an income verification certification from the employer of the proposed 
purchaser and any other member of the Household eighteen (18) years old or older; 

d. an income verification certification from the Social Security Administration 
and/or the California Department of Social Services if the proposed purchaser or any other member 
of the Household eighteen (18) years old or older receives assistance from such agencies; or 

e. a reasonable alternate form of income verification if none of the above 
forms of verification is available. 

5.5. Marketing of Units 

Developer shall comply with all applicable Governmental Requirements when 
marketing the sale of the Units. Developer anticipates that it will use a “grass roots” approach to 
market the Units locally, such as advertisements in local newspapers, in an effort to attract 
Qualified Buyers.  To the extent permitted by law, Developer will establish and implement a 
homebuyer local preference and priority program or policy.  Marketing of Units will be conducted 
in substantial compliance with a marketing plan approved by City. 

 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 26 

6. COVENANTS AND RESTRICTIONS 

6.1. Use Covenants 

Developer covenants and agrees for itself, its successors, its assigns, and every 
successor in interest to the Property or any part thereof, that upon the acquisition of the Property 
and during the development of the Project and thereafter, Developer shall devote the Property 
solely to the uses specified in, and otherwise comply with the terms and conditions of, this 
Agreement and the Declaration.  All uses conducted on the Property, including, without limitation, 
all activities undertaken by the Developer pursuant to this Agreement, shall conform to all 
applicable laws.   

6.2. Nondiscrimination Covenants 

Developer covenants by and for itself and any successors in interest that there shall 
be no discrimination against or segregation of, any person or group of persons on account of any 
basis listed in subdivision (a) or (d) of Section 12955 of the Government Code, as those bases are 
defined in Sections 12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) and paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of 
Section 12955, and Section 12955.2 of the Government Code, in the sale, lease, sublease, transfer, 
use, occupancy, tenure, or enjoyment of the Property, or any part of it, nor shall the Developer or 
any person claiming under or through it, establish or permit any practice or practices of 
discrimination or segregation with reference to the selection, location, number, use or occupancy 
of tenants, lessees, subtenants, sublessees, or vendees in the Property, including the Affordable 
Units, or any portion thereof. The foregoing covenants shall run with the land. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, with respect to familial status, the 
foregoing paragraph shall not be construed to apply to housing for older persons, as defined in 
Section 12955.9 of the Government Code.  With respect to familial status, nothing in the foregoing 
paragraph shall be construed to affect Sections 51.2, 51.3, 51.4, 51.10, 51.11, and 799.5 of the 
Civil Code, relating to housing for senior citizens. Subdivision (d) of Section 51 and Section 1360 
of the Civil Code and subdivisions (n), (o), and (p) of Section 12955 of the Government Code shall 
apply to the foregoing paragraph. 

Developer shall refrain from restricting the sale of the Property, including the 
Affordable Units, on account of any basis listed in subdivision (a) or (d) of Section 12955 of the 
Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) and 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955, and Section 12955.2 of the Government Code.  
All such deeds, contracts or subcontracts shall contain or be subject to substantially the following 
nondiscrimination and nonsegregation clauses: 

a. In deeds:  “In deeds:  “The grantee herein covenants by and for 
himself or herself, his or her heirs, executors, administrators, and assigns, and all persons claiming 
under or through them, that there shall be no discrimination against or segregation of, any person 
or group of persons on account of any basis listed in subdivision (a) or (d) of Section 12955 of the 
Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) and 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955, and Section 12955.2 of the Government Code, 
in the sale, lease, sublease, transfer, use, occupancy, tenure, or enjoyment of the premises herein 
conveyed, nor shall the grantee or any person claiming under or through him or her, establish or 
permit any practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference to the selection, 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 27 

location, number, use or occupancy of tenants, lessees, subtenants, sublessees, or vendees in the 
premises herein conveyed. The foregoing covenants shall run with the land.” 

Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, with respect to familial status, the 
foregoing paragraph shall not be construed to apply to housing for older persons, as defined in 
Section 12955.9 of the Government Code. With respect to familial status, nothing in the foregoing 
paragraph shall be construed to affect Sections 51.2, 51.3, 51.4, 51.10, 51.11, and 799.5 of the 
Civil Code, relating to housing for senior citizens. Subdivision (d) of Section 51 and Section 1360 
of the Civil Code and subdivisions (n), (o), and (p) of Section 12955 of the Government Code shall 
apply to the foregoing paragraph. 

b. In contracts:  “There shall be no discrimination against or 
segregation of any person or group of persons, on account of any basis listed in subdivision (a) or 
(d) of Section 12955 of the Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 12926, 
12926.1, subdivision (m) and paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955, and Section 
12955.2 of the Government Code, in connection with the performance of this contract nor shall 
the contracting party himself or herself, or any person claiming under or through him or her, 
establish or permit any such practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference 
to the selection, location, number, use, or occupancy of tenants, lessees, sublessees, subtenants, 
contractors, subcontractors or vendees with respect to the premises.” 

Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, with respect to familial status, the 
foregoing paragraph shall not be construed to apply to housing for older persons, as defined in 
Section 12955.9 of the Government Code. With respect to familial status, nothing in the foregoing 
paragraph shall be construed to affect Sections 51.2, 51.3, 51.4, 51.10, 51.11, and 799.5 of the 
Civil Code, relating to housing for senior citizens. Subdivision (d) of Section 51 and Section 1360 
of the Civil Code and subdivisions (n), (o), and (p) of Section 12955 of the Government Code shall 
apply to the foregoing paragraph. 

c. In leases: “Lessee herein covenants by and for itself, its successors 
and assigns, and all persons claiming under or through them, that there shall be no discrimination 
against or segregation of, any person or group of persons on account of any basis listed in 
subdivision (a) and (d) of Section 12955 of the Government Code, as those bases are defined in 
Sections 12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) and paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955 
and Section 12955.2 of the Government Code in the leasing, subleasing, transferring, use, 
occupancy, tenure or enjoyment of the premises herein leased nor shall the lessee or any person 
claiming under or through the lessee, establish or permit any such practice or practices of 
discrimination or segregation with reference to the selection, location, number, use or occupancy 
of tenants, lessees, sublessees, subtenants, or vendees in the premises herein leased. 

Notwithstanding paragraph (1), with respect to familial status, paragraph 
(1) shall not be construed to apply to housing for older persons, as defined in Section 12955.9 of 
the Government Code.  With respect to familial status, nothing in paragraph (1) shall be construed 
to affect Sections 51.2, 51.3, 51.4, 51.10, 51.11, and 799.5 of the Civil Code, relating to housing 
for senior citizens.  Subdivision (d) of Section 51 and Section 1360 of the Civil Code and 
subdivisions (n), (o), and (p) of Section 12955 of the Government Code shall apply to paragraph 
(1).” 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 28 

6.3. Affordable Housing Covenants; Declaration. 

Developer shall execute, acknowledge, and deliver to escrow the Declaration to be 
recorded with respect to the Property concurrently with the Closing.  The Declaration contains 
those portions of this Agreement relating to affordable housing requirements and related matters, 
and is incorporated herein by this reference.  In consideration of City’s conveyance of the Property 
to Developer, Developer covenants and agrees to develop and sell the Units in the Project in 
accordance with the Declaration.   

6.4. Schedule of Performance 

The Parties covenant and agree to utilize commercially reasonable efforts to 
perform their respective obligations hereunder in a timely manner, and, to the extent set forth 
therein, in accordance with the Schedule of Performance. 

6.5. Conflict with Declaration 

In the event of a conflict between this Agreement and the Declaration, the 
provisions of the Declaration shall control. 

7. DEFAULTS, REMEDIES AND TERMINATION 

7.1. Defaults - General  

Subject to the extensions of time approved in writing by the Parties, failure or delay 
by either party to timely perform, comply with or observe any of the conditions, provisions, terms, 
covenants or representations of this Agreement, constitutes a default under this Agreement.  As 
provided hereinbelow, the party who so fails or delays must immediately commence to cure, 
correct or remedy such failure or delay, and shall complete such cure, correction or remedy with 
diligence.  The injured party shall give written notice of default to the party in default, specifying 
the default complained of by the injured party.  Failure or delay in giving such notice shall not 
constitute a waiver of any default, nor shall it change the date of default. 

Except as required to protect against further damages, the injured party may not 
institute legal proceedings against the party in default until an Event of Default (as such term is 
hereinafter defined) has occurred.  For purposes of this Agreement, an “Event of Default” for 
purposes of instituting legal proceedings by a non-defaulting party against the defaulting party 
shall mean a failure to satisfy, timely perform, comply with or observe any of the conditions, 
provisions, terms, covenants or representations contained in this Agreement, including any 
Attachment, such failure having continued uncured or without the defaulting party commencing 
to diligently cure for thirty (30) calendar days after notice thereof in writing is mailed by the injured 
party to the defaulting party; provided, however, that if a different period or notice requirement is 
specified for any particular default under any other provision of this Agreement, including any of 
the Attachments, the specific provision shall control; and provided further, that if such failure is 
not reasonably capable of being cured within such thirty (30) day or different period, despite the 
defaulting party’s good faith and timely efforts, such time as is reasonably necessary to complete 
such cure but in no event shall such time exceed ninety (90) calendar days after notice thereof is 
mailed to the defaulting party. 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 29 

7.2. Remedies and Rights of Termination Prior to Conveyance 

Prior to Conveyance, the sole remedy of the Parties for an Event of Default shall 
be termination.  Termination by either Party shall be subject to the conditions set forth below. 

7.2.1. Termination by Developer. 

In the event that, prior to the Conveyance: 

(A) City does not sign this Agreement within thirty (30) calendar days 
after the date of signature by Developer; or  

(B) Developer does not approve the Condition of Title to the Property 
in accordance herewith or fails to obtain title insurance in compliance herewith despite diligently 
pursuing the issuance of such insurance; or 

(C) City does not tender Conveyance of the Property, in the manner and 
condition, by the Outside Closing Date or such later date agreed to by the Parties, and Developer 
has fully performed its obligations hereunder; or  

(D) Developer fails after reasonable diligence, to secure the right, upon 
acquisition of title and payment of fees, to obtain entitlements, approvals or permits necessary for 
the development of the Property pursuant to this Agreement; or 

(E) Developer fails after reasonable diligence to secure sufficient 
financing for the Project; or  

(F) During the Due Diligence Period, the title, environmental, soils or 
geologic conditions of the Property are determined to be not in all respects entirely suitable for the 
use or uses to which the Property will be put, and Developer determines that solely for that reason, 
development of the Project is economically infeasible; or  

(G) there is a land use lawsuit (“Challenge”) brought against the 
development of the Property in accordance with this Agreement, including a Challenge under state 
or federal environmental laws, and said Challenge either legally prevents Developer or City from 
performing its obligations under this Agreement, or, if successful, would prevent Developer from 
constructing the Improvements in substantially the form contemplated by this Agreement, then 
Developer may deliver a notice of such challenge (the “Challenge Notice”) to City requesting that 
such impediment to City’s or Developer’s performance of its obligations be eliminated on or 
before expiration of the “Minimum Period” provided below.  Developer and City shall cooperate 
with each other in seeking to diligently resolve the Challenge.  During the pendency of the 
Challenge, the Developer shall not be obligated to proceed with construction of the Improvements 
or any other matters subject to a force majeure delay as a result of such Challenge, and all deadlines 
set forth in the Schedule of Performance with respect to such matters shall be extended during the 
period of such Challenge.  If, prior to expiration of the Minimum Period, such Challenge is not 
eliminated or otherwise resolved in a manner which would permit Developer to construct the 
Improvements in substantially the form contemplated by this Agreement, then Developer may, at 
its option and upon written notice delivered to City not later than sixty (60) calendar days after the 
expiration of the Minimum Period, terminate this Agreement.  The “Minimum Period” shall mean 
a period of time commencing upon delivery of the Challenge Notice and ending one hundred and 
eighty (180) calendar days from the date of City’s receipt of the Challenge Notice; or 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 30 

(H) either City or Developer is prevented from performing their 
obligations under this Agreement for an uninterrupted period in excess of one hundred and eighty 
(180) calendar days because of an event of force majeure described in Section 8.6 of this 
Agreement; or 

(I) there exists a condition, event or act which constitutes an Event of 
Default by City under this Agreement or which, upon the giving of notice or the passage of time, 
or both, would constitute an Event of Default by City as of the Closing; or 

(J) not all representations and warranties of City herein contained are 
true and correct as if made on and as of the Closing;  

then this Agreement may, at the option of the Developer, be terminated by 
written notice thereof to City prior to the Conveyance.  Except as otherwise expressly provided 
herein, following such termination, neither City nor the Developer shall have any further rights 
against or liability to the other under this Agreement as to any Property or otherwise with respect 
to the subject matter of this Agreement.   

7.2.2. Termination by City 

In the event that, prior to the Conveyance: 

(A) Developer (or any successor in interest) assigns or attempts to assign 
this Agreement or any rights in it, or in the Property or any part thereof, except as expressly 
permitted herein; or  

(B) there is a change in the ownership of Developer, or with respect to 
the identity of the parties in control of Developer, or the degree thereof, contrary to the provisions 
herein, except as expressly permitted therein; or 

(C) Developer does not submit any documents, as required by this 
Agreement, in satisfactory form and in the manner and by the dates respectively provided in this 
Agreement; or 

(D) there is a Challenge brought against the development of the Property 
in the manner contemplated by this Agreement and said Challenge either legally prevents City or 
Developer from performing their obligations under this Agreement, or, if successful, would 
prevent Developer from constructing the Improvements in substantially the form contemplated by 
this Agreement, and this Challenge is not eliminated within one hundred and eighty (180) calendar 
days; or 

(E) either City or Developer is prevented from performing its 
obligations under this Agreement for an uninterrupted period in excess of one hundred and eighty 
(180) calendar days because of an event described in Section 8.6 of this Agreement; or 

(F) Developer does not take title to the Property on tender of 
Conveyance pursuant to this Agreement by the Outside Closing Date; or 

(G) Developer does not secure the right, conditioned only upon 
acquisition of title and payment of fees, to obtain permits from governmental agencies as required 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 31 

necessary for the development of the Property in accordance with the Schedule of Performance; 
or 

(H) Developer fails despite diligent effort to secure the financing 
necessary for the acquisition, development and operation of the Project by the date specified in the 
Schedule of Performance; or 

(I) there exists a condition, event or act which resulted in the 
termination of, or constitutes an Event of Default by Developer, or which, upon the giving of notice 
or the passage of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default by Developer as of the 
Closing; or 

(J) not all representations and warranties of Developer herein contained 
and contained in this Agreement are true and correct as if made on and as of the Closing; or 

(K) the Closing does not occur by the Outside Closing Date or such later 
date as agreed to by the Parties; 

then this Agreement may, at the option of the City, be terminated by written 
notice thereof to the Developer.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, following such 
termination, neither City nor the Developer shall have any further rights against or liability to the 
other under this Agreement.  City’s indemnification obligations under this Agreement shall remain 
in force following such termination with respect to any events occurring or claims accruing prior 
to the date of such termination. In the event of the City’s exercise of such termination, the right of 
termination provided in this Section shall be City’s sole and exclusive remedy. 

7.3. Remedies of the Parties for Default After Conveyance 

If after Conveyance an Event of Default occurs, the non-defaulting party shall have 
such rights as are afforded under applicable law, including, without limitation, an action for 
specific performance, and the defaulting party will be liable to the other party for any damages 
caused by the default and other relief as is afforded by applicable law, except as set forth herein. 

7.4. Limitation on Liability 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither Developer nor City shall in any event be 
entitled to, and each hereby waives and releases, any right to seek loss of profits or any special, 
incidental or consequential damages of any kind or nature from the other Party arising out of or in 
connection with this Agreement or the termination hereof, and in connection with such waiver 
each Party is familiar with and hereby waives the provision of Section 1542 of the California Civil 
Code which provides as follows:  

“A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS 
WHICH THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO 
EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING 
THE RELEASE WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER MUST 
HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT 
WITH THE DEBTOR. 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 32 

7.5. Legal Actions 

7.5.1. Institution of Legal Actions 

In addition to any other rights or remedies and subject to the restrictions 
otherwise set forth in this Agreement, either party may institute an action at law or equity to cure, 
correct or remedy any Event of Default, to recover damages as provided herein for any Event of 
Default, or to obtain any other remedy consistent with the purpose of this Agreement.  Such legal 
actions may be instituted in the Superior Court of the County of Los Angeles, State of California, 
or in the Federal District Court in the Central District of California. 

7.5.2. Applicable Law 

The laws of the State of California shall govern the enforcement of this 
Agreement. 

7.5.3. Acceptance of Service of Process 

In the event that any legal action is commenced by Developer against City, 
service of process on the City shall be made by personal service upon the City Manager, or in such 
other manner as may be provided by law. 

In the event that any legal action is commenced by City against Developer, 
service of process on Developer shall be made by personal service upon the President or Executive 
Director of Developer or in such other manner as may be provided by law, whether made within 
or without the State of California. 

7.6. Rights and Remedies are Cumulative 

To the extent permitted by law and except with respect to rights and remedies 
expressly declared to be exclusive in this Agreement, the rights and remedies of the parties are 
cumulative, and the exercise by either party of one or more of such rights or remedies shall not 
preclude the exercise by it, at the same time or different times, of any other rights or remedies for 
the same Event of Default or any other Event of Default by the other party. 

7.7. Inaction Not a Waiver of Default 

Any failure or delay by either party in asserting any of its rights and remedies as to 
any default shall not operate as a waiver of any default or of any such rights or remedies, or deprive 
either such party of its right to institute and maintain any actions or proceedings which it may 
deem necessary to protect, assert or enforce any such rights or remedies. 

7.8. Attorneys’ Fees 

In any action between the Parties to interpret, enforce, reform, modify, rescind or 
otherwise in connection with any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement, the prevailing Party 
in the action or other proceeding shall be entitled, in addition to damages, injunctive relief or any 
other relief to which it might be entitled, reasonable costs and expenses including, without 
limitation, litigation costs, expert witness fees and reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

As used herein, the terms “attorneys’ fees” or “attorneys’ fees and costs” means the 
reasonable fees and expenses of counsel to the Parties hereto (including, without limitation, in-



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 33 

house or other counsel employed by City or Developer) which may include printing, duplicating 
and other expenses, air freight charges, and fees billed for law clerks, paralegals and others not 
admitted to the bar but performing services under the supervision of an attorney.  The terms 
“attorneys’ fees” or “attorneys’ fees and costs” shall also include, without limitation, all such 
reasonable fees and expenses incurred with respect to appeals, arbitrations and bankruptcy 
proceedings, and whether or not any action or proceeding is brought with respect to the matter for 
which said fees and expenses were incurred. 

8. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

8.1. Notices, Demands and Communications Between the Parties 

All notices, demands, requests, elections, approvals, disapprovals, consents or other 
communications given under this Agreement shall be in writing (“Notice”) and shall be given by 
personal delivery, certified mail, return receipt requested, or overnight guaranteed delivery service 
and addressed as follows: 

To City:  City of Lakewood 
5050 Clark Avenue 
Lakewood, CA 90712 
Attention: City Manager 
 

To Developer:  Habitat for Humanity of  
Greater Los Angeles, Inc. 
8739 Artesia Blvd. 
Bellflower, CA  90706 
Attention:  President 
 

Any Notice shall be deemed received upon receipt if delivered by hand or messenger, and 
shall be deemed received on the third day from the date it is postmarked if delivered by registered 
or certified mail, return receipt requested. 

8.2. Conflicts of Interest  

No member, official or employee of the City shall have any direct or indirect 
interest in this Agreement, nor participate in any decision relating to the Agreement which is 
prohibited by law. 

8.3. Warranty Against Payment of Consideration for Agreement  

Developer warrants that it has not paid or given and will not pay or give, any third 
person any money or other consideration for obtaining this Agreement, other than normal costs of 
conducting business and costs of professional services such as project managers, architects, 
engineers, attorneys, and public relations consultants. 

8.4. Nonliability of Developer and City Officials and Employees  

No member, partner, director, official, employee, representative or agent of the 
Developer shall be personally liable to City, or any successor in interest thereof, in the event of 
any default or breach by Developer under the terms of this Agreement. 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 34 

No member, official, employee, representative or agent of City shall be personally 
liable to Developer, or any successor in interest thereof, in the event of any default or breach by 
City under the terms of this Agreement. 

8.5. Approvals by City and Developer 

Approvals required of the Parties shall be given within the time set forth in this 
Agreement, the Schedule of Performance or, if no time is given, within a reasonable time.  
Wherever this Agreement requires the City or Developer to approve any contract, document, plan, 
proposal, specification, drawing or other matter, such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld 
or delayed, unless expressly provided to the contrary. 

8.6. Force Majeure; Extension of Times of Performance  

Failure by either Party to perform shall not be deemed a default hereunder and times 
for performance shall be extended as provided herein where delays are due to war; insurrection; 
strikes; lockouts; riots; floods; earthquakes; fires; casualties; acts of God; acts of the public enemy; 
epidemics; pandemics; quarantine restrictions; freight embargoes; lack of transportation; 
governmental restrictions or priority; litigation; unusually severe weather; inability to secure 
necessary labor, materials or tools; delays of any contractor or supplier; acts of the other Party; 
acts of failure to act of any public or governmental agency or entity or similar causes beyond the 
control and without the fault of the Party claiming an extension of time to perform (collectively, a 
“Force Majeure” delay); provided, however, that the Party claiming the existence of a Force 
Majeure delay and an extension of its obligation to perform shall notify the other Party in writing 
of the nature of the matter causing the delay within thirty-five (35) Business Days of the occurrence 
thereof (including a description of the Force Majeure event causing such conditions and 
Developer’s efforts to complete the development of the Project in spite of such conditions). 

Provided that written Notice is given by the Party seeking an extension of time 
pursuant to this provision, the extension of time to perform shall commence to run from the time 
of the commencement of the cause and shall continue only for the period of the Force Majeure 
delay; provided, however, in no event shall performance be excused pursuant to this Section for 
any Force Majeure delay for a cumulative period of more than three (3) months.  If said Force 
Majeure delay extends for more than three (3) months, either Party may terminate this Agreement 
upon fifteen (15) days written notice to the other Party.   

Notwithstanding the foregoing, provided that written Notice of the Force 
Majeure event was given in a timely manner, Developer shall be entitled to an extension of its 
obligation to complete development of the Project on the Property for up to two additional three 
(3) month periods (for a total of up to nine (9) consecutive months, but provided that any extension 
shall only be for the period of the Force Majeure delay if the period of such delay is less than such 
extension period) if Developer demonstrates that as a result of a Force Majeure event, conditions 
are such that no commercially reasonable person or entity exercising timely and consistent 
commercially reasonable best efforts could obtain financing or complete construction of the 
Project.  Developer shall notify City in writing of its exercise of such additional three (3) month 
periods (including a description of the Force Majeure event causing such conditions and 
Developer’s efforts to complete the development of the Project in spite of such conditions) not 
later than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of the three (3) month period specified above.   



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 35 

Times of performance under this Agreement may also be extended in 
writing by mutual agreement of City and Developer.   

8.7. Applicable Law; Interpretation 

The laws of the State of California shall govern the interpretation of this 
Agreement.  This Agreement shall be construed as a whole and in accordance with its fair meaning 
and as though both of the parties participated equally in its drafting.   

8.8. Inspection of Books and Records, Reports 

Upon five (5) Business Days prior written notice, City or its designee has the right 
at all reasonable times during normal business hours to inspect the books and records and other 
related documents of the Developer pertaining to the satisfaction of its obligations hereunder as 
reasonably necessary for purposes of enforcing the provisions of this Agreement.  Such books, 
records and related documents shall be maintained by the Developer at locations as agreed by the 
parties.  Throughout the term of this Agreement, the Developer shall submit to City reasonable 
written progress reports as and when reasonably requested by City on all matters pertaining to the 
Project or the Property. 

8.9. Administration 

This Agreement shall be administered by the City Manager.  Whenever a reference 
is made in this Agreement to an action, finding or approval to be undertaken by the City, the City 
Manager is authorized to act unless specifically provided otherwise or the context should require 
otherwise.  The City Manager shall have the authority to issue interpretations, waive provisions 
and enter into extensions, modifications, and amendments of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, the City Manager may in his or her sole and absolute discretion refer any matter to 
the City Council, for action, direction or approval. 

8.10. Mutual Cooperation 

Each Party agrees to cooperate with the other in this transaction and, in that regard, 
to sign any and all documents which may be reasonably necessary, helpful or appropriate to carry 
out the purposes and intent of this Agreement. 

8.11. Ground Breaking and Grand Openings 

City shall cooperate with Developer staff in the organization of any Project-related 
ground breaking, grand openings or any other such inaugural events/ceremonies sponsored by the 
Developer and celebrating the development which is the subject of this Agreement. 

8.12. Independent Contractor 

The parties agree that the Developer, in the performance of this Agreement shall 
act as and be an independent contractor and shall not act in the capacity of an agent, employee or 
partner of the City. 

8.13. Time 

Time is of the essence in this Agreement. 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 36 

8.14. Third Party Beneficiaries 

This Agreement is made and entered into for the sole protection and benefit of the 
City, and its successors and assigns, and Developer, and its permitted successors and assigns, and 
no other person or persons shall have any right of action hereon. 

9. ENTIRE AGREEMENT, WAIVERS AND AMENDMENTS 

This Agreement includes thirty-six (36) pages, signature pages, and Attachments A through 
G which together constitute the entire understanding and agreement of the Parties.  Duplicate 
originals of this Agreement may be executed, each of which shall be deemed to be an original.  
This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, 
and such counterparts shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

Except as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement integrates all of the terms and 
conditions mentioned herein or incidental hereto, and supersedes all negotiations or previous 
agreements between the parties with respect to all or any part of the subject matter hereof.  All 
waivers of the provisions of this Agreement must be in writing and signed by the appropriate 
authorities of City or Developer, and all amendments hereto must be in writing and signed by the 
appropriate authorities of the City and Developer. 

 
[Signatures on Next Page]



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, City and Developer have signed this Disposition, Development 
and Grant Agreement as of the date set forth above. 

 
 
“City” 
 
CITY OF LAKEWOOD, a California municipal 
corporation 

By:   

Its:   

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
By:     
  
 
CITY CLERK 
 
 
By:     
  
 
 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO DISPOSITION, DEVELOPMENT 
AND GRANT AGREEMENT] 

[PAGE 1 OF 2] 

 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1  

“DEVELOPER” 

HABITAT FOR HUMANITY OF GREATER 
LOS ANGELES, INC., a California nonprofit 
public benefit corporation 

 

By:   
 Erin Rank, President and CEO 
 

 

 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO DISPOSITION, DEVELOPMENT 
AND GRANT AGREEMENT] 

     [PAGE 2 OF 2] 
 
 

 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1  

ATTACHMENT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
THE LAND REFERRED TO HEREIN BELOW IS SITUATED IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD IN THE 
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

PARCEL 1: 
 
THAT PORTION OF THE EAST 13 ACRES OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER 
OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 4 SOUTH, RANGE 12. WEST, IN THE RANCHO LOS COYOTES, IN THE COUNTY 
OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS SHOWN ON A COPY OF A MAP MADE BY CHARLES T. 
HENLEY, RECORDED IN BOOK 41819, PAGE 141 ET SEQ., OF OFFICIAL RECORDS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY, SHOWN AS PARCEL 38 ON LICENSED SURVEYOR'S MAP FILED 
IN BOOK 19, PAGE 34 OF RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID 
COUNTY. 
 
EXCEPTING THEREFROM THAT PORTION THEREOF AS CONVEYED TO THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, BY 
DEED RECORDED MAY 2, 1963 IN BOOK D2014, PAGE 17 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS, DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
BEGINNING AT THE NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF SAID PARCEL 38; 
THENCE ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL, NORTH 89° 35' 05" EAST, 142.38 FEET TO THE 
NORTHEASTERLY CORNER OF SAID PARCEL; 
THENCE ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL, SOUTH 0° 40' 33" EAST, 2.66 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 89° 26'25" WEST, 104.35 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 53°31’41" WEST, 22.23 FEET TO A POINT IN A LINE THAT IS PARALLEL WITH AND DISTANT 
EASTERLY 20.00 FEET, MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES, TO THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL; 
THENCE SOUTH 89° 19' 27" WEST, 20.00 FEET TO SAID WESTERLY LINE; 
THENCE ALONG SAID WESTERLY LINE NORTH 0° 40' 23" WEST, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
APN: 7059-011-901 
 
PARCEL 2: 
 
LOT 3 AS SHOWN ON LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP, IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, COUNTY OF LOS 
ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FILED IN BOOK 19, PAGE(S) 36 RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 
 
EXCEPT THE WEST 205.00 FEET OF SAID LAND. 
 
EXCEPT THE NORTH 44.00 FEET OF THE REMAINDER OF SAID LAND. 
 
APN: 7059-019-900 
 
PARCEL 3: 
 
THE EASTERLY 45 FEET OF THE WESTERLY 205 FEET OF PARCEL 3 IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, COUNTY 
OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP FILED IN BOOK 19, PAGE 
36 RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 
 
APN: 7059-019-901 

https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19


 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 ATTACHMENT A 

PARCEL 4: 
 

THE NORTH 44 FEET OF PARCEL 3, IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP FILED IN BOOK 19, PAGE 36 
RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 

 
EXCEPT THEREFROM THE WEST 205 FEET THEREOF. 

 
APN: 7059-019-902 

 
PARCEL 5: 

 
PARCELS 187, 188 AND 189, AS SHOWN ON LICENSED SURVEYORS MAP OF THE NORTH HALF 
OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 4 
SOUTH, RANGE 
12 WEST, SAN BERNARDINO BASE AND MERIDIAN, IN THE RANCHO LOS COYOTES, CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER MAP RECORDED IN 
BOOK 18, PAGE 33 OF RECORDS OF SURVEY, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF 
SAID COUNTY. 

 
EXCEPT THEREFROM THE SOUTHERLY 5 FEET OF THE NORTHERLY 30 FEET AS GRANTED TO 
THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD BY DEED RECORDED JANUARY 4, 2011 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 
20110015937 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS. 

 
PARCEL 6: 

 
PARCELS 190, 191 AND 192, AS SHOWN ON LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP, IN THE CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER MAP RECORDED IN 
BOOK 18, PAGE 33 OF RECORDS OF SURVEY, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF 
SAID COUNTY. 

 
EXCEPT THEREFROM THE SOUTHERLY 5 FEET OF THE NORTHERLY 30 FEET AS GRANTED TO 
THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD BY DEED RECORDED JANUARY 4, 2011 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 
20110015937 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS. 

 
APN: 7059-014-900, APN: APN 7059-014-

901  

PARCEL 7: 

 
PARCEL NOS. 80, 81, AND 82, AS SHOWN ON LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP, FILED IN BOOK 19, 
PAGE 36 OF RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID 
COUNTY. 

 
APN: 7059-015-900 

 
  

https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19


 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 ATTACHMENT A 

PARCEL 8: 
 

PARCELS 115, 116 AND 117, IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS SHOWN ON A LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP OF A PORTION OF 
THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 4 
SOUTH, RANGE 12 WEST, IN THE RANCHO LOS COYOTES, IN THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FILED IN BOOK 19, PAGE 36 OF RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 

 
APN: 7059-015-901 

 
PARCEL 9: 
PARCELS 78 AND 79 OF LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP, FILED IN BOOK 19, PAGE 36 OF RECORD 
OF SURVEYS, IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, AS PER MAP RECORDED IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 
 
APN: 7059-015-902 
 

https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19


 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 ATTACHMENT B 

ATTACHMENT B 
 

SCOPE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
Developer shall construct thirty seven (37) townhomes on the Property and certain real property 
already owned by Developer located at 11637 207th Street and related improvements. 
 
 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 ATTACHMENT C 

ATTACHMENT C 
 

CITY GRANT DEED 
 

(Attached) 



TO BE RECORDED AND WHEN 
RECORDED RETURNED TO: 

Habitat for Humanity of 
Greater Los Angeles 
8739 Artesia Blvd. 
Bellflower, CA  90706 
Attention:  President  

Mail tax statements to return address above. 

APNs:  7059-011-901, 7059-019-902, 7059-019-900, 7059-019-901, 7059-014-900, 7059-
014-901, 7059-015-901, 7059-015-900 and 7059-015-902

Documentary Transfer Tax is $_______________ 

GRANT DEED 

Pursuant to Assembly Bill 1X 26, enacted in June 2011, and modified by the Supreme 
Court of the State of California in the matter of California Redevelopment Association, et al. v. 
Ana Matosantos, et al, Case No. S194861, and further modified by Assembly Bill 1484, enacted 
in June 2012, and other subsequent legislation (collectively, the “Dissolution Act”), the Lakewood 
Redevelopment Agency (“Redevelopment Agency”) was dissolved effective February 1, 2012. 

On January 24, 2012, the City of Lakewood, a municipal corporation (“City”), adopted 
City Council Resolution 2012-3, whereby the City elected to retain the affordable housing assets 
and related housing functions of the former Redevelopment Agency in accordance with Section 
34176(a) of the California Health and Safety Code, effective upon the dissolution of the 
Redevelopment Agency on February 1, 2012.    

In accordance with the Dissolution Act, the City filed a “Housing Assets Transfer Form,” 
which was approved by the California Department of Finance by letter dated August 29, 2012.  As 
a result, the Property (as defined below) became a housing asset of the City pursuant to, and in 
accordance with, the Dissolution Act.  City now desires to convey such Property for affordable 
housing purposes. ACCORDINGLY, FOR VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, receipt of which is 
hereby acknowledged, the CITY OF LAKEWOOD, a California municipal corporation, 
successor agency to the Housing Assets of the Lakewood Redevelopment Agency  (“Grantor”) 
hereby grants, transfers and assigns to HABITAT FOR HUMANITY OF GREATER LOS 
ANGELES, a California nonprofit public benefit corporation (“Grantee”), all of its right, title 
and interest in and to that certain improved real property (the “Property”) described on the 
attached Exhibit “A” incorporated herein by this reference together with all improvements, 
fixtures, tenements, hereditaments and appurtenances thereto.  Such Property is and shall remain 
real property.  By this Grant Deed, Grantor is acting under the Community Redevelopment Law 
of California to carry out the public purposes of that certain Disposition and Development 
Agreement (11644 206th Street, 20920 Roseton Avenue, 11610-18 207th Street, 20525-29 Pioneer 
Boulevard and 11643-49 207th Street) (the “Agreement” or “DDA”), dated May 14, 2024, and 
entered into by and between Grantor and Grantee.   



 

Att C – Grant Deed FINAL 
 2 

SUBJECT TO: 

1.  

(a) Taxes and assessments which are a lien, but which are not yet billed, 
or are billed but are not yet due and payable, including non-delinquent real property taxes and non-
delinquent special assessments. 

(b) All covenants, conditions, easements, restrictions, liens, 
encumbrances, other matters of record, and all matters affecting the status of title which are 
discoverable by an accurate survey; and 

(c) All laws, regulations or ordinances (including, but not limited to, 
zoning, building and environmental laws, regulations and ordinances) applicable to the Property. 

2. Title to the Property is conveyed hereto subject to all recorded liens, 
encumbrances, covenants, encroachments, assessments, easements, leases and taxes.  

3. The Grantee covenants and agrees for itself and its successors, assigns and 
any successor in its interest to the Property, that there shall be no discrimination against or 
segregation of, any person or group of persons on account of race, color, creed, religion, national 
origin, ancestry, age, physical handicap, medical condition, marital status, sex or sexual orientation 
in the sale, lease, sublease, transfer, use, occupancy, tenure, or enjoyment of the Property or any 
portion thereof, nor shall the Grantee itself or any person claiming under or through it, establish 
or permit any such practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference to the 
selection, location, number, use or occupancy of tenants, leases, subtenants, sublessees, or vendees 
in the Property or any portion thereof.  The foregoing covenants shall run with the land. 

All deeds, leases or contracts made relative to the Property, the 
Improvements thereon, or any part thereof shall contain or be subject to substantially the following 
non-discrimination or non-segregation clauses: 

(a) In deeds: “The grantee herein covenants by and for himself or 
herself, his or her heirs, executors, administrators, and assigns, and all persons claiming under or 
through them, that there shall be no discrimination against or segregation of, any person or group 
of persons on account of any basis listed in subdivision (a) or (d) of Section 12955 of the 
Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) and 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955, and Section 12955.2 of the Government Code, 
in the sale, lease, sublease, transfer, use, occupancy, tenure, or enjoyment of the premises herein 
conveyed, nor shall the grantee or any person claiming under or through him or her, establish or 
permit any practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference to the selection, 
location, number, use or occupancy of tenants, lessees, subtenants, sublessees, or vendees in the 
premises herein conveyed. The foregoing covenants shall run with the land.” 

(b) In leases: “The lessee herein covenants by and for himself or herself, 
his or her heirs, executors, administrators, and assigns, and all persons claiming under or through 
him or her, and this lease is made and accepted upon and subject to the following conditions:  



 

Att C – Grant Deed FINAL 
 3 

That there shall be no discrimination against or segregation of any 
person or group of persons, on account of any basis listed in subdivision (a) or (d) of Section 12955 
of the Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) 
and paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955, and Section 12955.2 of the Government 
Code, in the leasing, subleasing, transferring, use, occupancy, tenure, or enjoyment of the premises 
herein leased nor shall the lessee himself or herself, or any person claiming under or through him 
or her, establish or permit any such practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with 
reference to the selection, location, number, use, or occupancy, of tenants, lessees, sublessees, 
subtenants, or vendees in the premises herein leased.” 

(c) In contracts: “There shall be no discrimination against or 
segregation of any person or group of persons, on account of any basis listed in subdivision (a) or 
(d) of Section 12955 of the Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 12926, 
12926.1, subdivision (m) and paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955, and Section 
12955.2 of the Government Code, in the sale, lease, sublease, transfer, use, occupancy, tenure, or 
enjoyment of the land, nor shall the transferee itself or any person claiming under or through him 
or her, establish or permit any such practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with 
reference to the selection, location, number, use, or occupancy, of tenants, lessees, sublessees, 
subtenants, or vendees of the land.” 

4. Prior to the recordation of a Release of Construction Covenants issued by 
Grantor for the improvements to be constructed on the Property or on any part thereof: 

(a) Grantor shall have the right at its option to reenter and take 
possession of the Property hereby conveyed (or portion thereof) with all improvements thereon, 
and to terminate and revest in Grantor fee title to the Property hereby conveyed (or portion thereof) 
to Grantee if Grantee (or its successors in interest) shall commit a default under the DDA. 

(b) The right to reenter, repossess, terminate and revest, and the 
provisions below regarding the application of proceeds, shall be subject to and be limited by and 
shall not defeat, render invalid, or limit: 

(i) Any bona fide mortgage or deed of trust or other security 
interest of sale or leaseback or other conveyance for financing, provided that such 
mortgage, deed of trust, security instrument, sale and leaseback or conveyance for 
financing is permitted by the DDA; or  

(ii) Any rights or interests provided in the DDA for the 
protection of the holders of such bona fide, permitted mortgages, deeds of trust, or other 
security instruments, the lessor under such sale and leaseback, or the grantee under such 
other conveyance for financing. 

(c) The right to reenter, repossess, terminate and revest shall not apply 
to the Property, or portions thereof, for which a Release of Construction Covenant has been issued 
by Grantor and recorded. 

(d) Subject to the rights of holders of security interests as stated in this 
paragraph 4, in the event title to the Property or any part thereof is revested in Grantor as provided 



 

Att C – Grant Deed FINAL 
 4 

in this paragraph 4, Grantor shall, pursuant to its responsibilities under state law, use its diligent 
and good faith efforts to resell the Property or such part thereof as soon and in such manner as 
Grantor shall find feasible and consistent with the objectives of such law to a qualified and 
responsible party or parties (as determined by Grantor), who will assume the obligation of making 
or completing the Improvements (as defined below in paragraph 5) or such other improvements in 
their stead as shall be satisfactory to Grantor and in accordance with the uses specified for such 
Property or any part thereof. Upon such resale of the Property or any part of the Property and 
satisfaction of obligations owed to the holder of any mortgage, deed of trust or other security 
interest authorized by the DDA, the proceeds thereof shall be applied: 

(i) First, to reimburse Grantor, for all costs and expenses 
reasonably incurred by Grantor, including salaries of personnel engaged in such action, in 
connection with the recapture and resale of the Property, or any part thereof; all taxes, 
assessments and water and sewer charges with respect to the Property or any part of the 
Property; any payments made or necessary to be made to discharge or prevent from 
attaching or being made any subsequent encumbrances or liens due to obligations, defaults 
or acts of the Developer, its successors or transferees; any expenditures made or 
obligations incurred with respect to the making or completion of the agreed improvements 
on the Property, or any part of the Property; and any amounts otherwise owing to the 
Grantor by the Developer and its successor or transferee; and; and 

(ii) Second, to reimburse Grantee, its successor or transferee, up 
to the amount equal to the costs incurred for the development of the Property, or any part 
of the Property, or for the construction of the Restricted Units. 

(iii) Any balance remaining after such reimbursements shall be 
a retained by Grantor as its property. 

(e) To the extent that this right of reverter involves a forfeiture, it must 
be strictly interpreted in favor of Grantor, the party for whose benefit it is created. This right is to 
be interpreted in light of the fact that Grantor hereby conveys the Property to Grantee for 
development and not for speculation in undeveloped land. 

 

 
[signature page follows] 

 



 

Att C – Grant Deed FINAL 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor and Grantee have caused this instrument to be 
executed on their behalf by their respective officers thereunder duly authorized, as of the date set 
forth above. 
 

GRANTOR: 
 

CITY OF LAKEWOOD 
 
 

By: Exhibit – Do Not Sign  
Name:   
Its:   

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
CITY ATTORNEY 
 
By: Exhibit – Do Not Sign  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
CITY CLERK 
 
By: Exhibit – Do Not Sign  
 



 

Att C – Grant Deed FINAL  

Grantee hereby accepts and approves each of the covenants, conditions and restrictions 
set forth in this Grant Deed. 
 

GRANTEE: 
 

HABITAT FOR HUMANITY OF 
GREATER LOS ANGELES, a California 
nonprofit public benefit corporation 

 
By: Exhibit – Do Not Sign  
 Erin Rank, President and CEO 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Att C – Grant Deed FINAL 

 
 
 
 

 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA    ) 
       ) § 
County of       )  
 
On      , before me,        a  
Notary Public, personally appeared        who proved to me on 
the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within 
instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized 
capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity 
upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
 
________________________________ 
Signature of Notary       

(Affix seal here) 
 

  

A notary public or other officer completing this 
certificate verifies only the identity of the individual 
who signed the document to which this certificate is 
attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or 
validity of that document. 



 

Att C – Grant Deed FINAL 

 
 
 
 

 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA    ) 
       ) § 
County of       )  
 
On      , before me,        a  
Notary Public, personally appeared        who proved to me on 
the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within 
instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized 
capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity 
upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
 
________________________________ 
Signature of Notary       

(Affix seal here) 

A notary public or other officer completing this 
certificate verifies only the identity of the individual 
who signed the document to which this certificate is 
attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or 
validity of that document. 



 

Att C – Grant Deed FINAL 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 
 

 
THE LAND REFERRED TO HEREIN BELOW IS SITUATED IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD IN THE 
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

PARCEL 1: 
 
THAT PORTION OF THE EAST 13 ACRES OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER 
OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 4 SOUTH, RANGE 12. WEST, IN THE RANCHO LOS COYOTES, IN THE COUNTY 
OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS SHOWN ON A COPY OF A MAP MADE BY CHARLES T. 
HENLEY, RECORDED IN BOOK 41819, PAGE 141 ET SEQ., OF OFFICIAL RECORDS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY, SHOWN AS PARCEL 38 ON LICENSED SURVEYOR'S MAP FILED 
IN BOOK 19, PAGE 34 OF RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID 
COUNTY. 
 
EXCEPTING THEREFROM THAT PORTION THEREOF AS CONVEYED TO THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, BY 
DEED RECORDED MAY 2, 1963 IN BOOK D2014, PAGE 17 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS, DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
BEGINNING AT THE NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF SAID PARCEL 38; 
THENCE ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL, NORTH 89° 35' 05" EAST, 142.38 FEET TO THE 
NORTHEASTERLY CORNER OF SAID PARCEL; 
THENCE ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL, SOUTH 0° 40' 33" EAST, 2.66 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 89° 26'25" WEST, 104.35 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 53°31’41" WEST, 22.23 FEET TO A POINT IN A LINE THAT IS PARALLEL WITH AND DISTANT 
EASTERLY 20.00 FEET, MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES, TO THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL; 
THENCE SOUTH 89° 19' 27" WEST, 20.00 FEET TO SAID WESTERLY LINE; 
THENCE ALONG SAID WESTERLY LINE NORTH 0° 40' 23" WEST, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
APN: 7059-011-901 
 
PARCEL 2: 
 
LOT 3 AS SHOWN ON LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP, IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, COUNTY OF LOS 
ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FILED IN BOOK 19, PAGE(S) 36 RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 
 
EXCEPT THE WEST 205.00 FEET OF SAID LAND. 
 
EXCEPT THE NORTH 44.00 FEET OF THE REMAINDER OF SAID LAND. 
 
APN: 7059-019-900 
 
PARCEL 3: 
 
THE EASTERLY 45 FEET OF THE WESTERLY 205 FEET OF PARCEL 3 IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, COUNTY 
OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP FILED IN BOOK 19, PAGE 
36 RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 
 
APN: 7059-019-901 

https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19


 

Att C – Grant Deed FINAL EXHIBIT A 

PARCEL 4: 
 

THE NORTH 44 FEET OF PARCEL 3, IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP FILED IN BOOK 19, PAGE 36 
RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 

 
EXCEPT THEREFROM THE WEST 205 FEET THEREOF. 

 
APN: 7059-019-902 

 
PARCEL 5: 

 
PARCELS 187, 188 AND 189, AS SHOWN ON LICENSED SURVEYORS MAP OF THE NORTH HALF 
OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 4 
SOUTH, RANGE 
12 WEST, SAN BERNARDINO BASE AND MERIDIAN, IN THE RANCHO LOS COYOTES, CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER MAP RECORDED IN 
BOOK 18, PAGE 33 OF RECORDS OF SURVEY, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF 
SAID COUNTY. 

 
EXCEPT THEREFROM THE SOUTHERLY 5 FEET OF THE NORTHERLY 30 FEET AS GRANTED TO 
THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD BY DEED RECORDED JANUARY 4, 2011 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 
20110015937 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS. 

 
PARCEL 6: 

 
PARCELS 190, 191 AND 192, AS SHOWN ON LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP, IN THE CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER MAP RECORDED IN 
BOOK 18, PAGE 33 OF RECORDS OF SURVEY, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF 
SAID COUNTY. 

 
EXCEPT THEREFROM THE SOUTHERLY 5 FEET OF THE NORTHERLY 30 FEET AS GRANTED TO 
THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD BY DEED RECORDED JANUARY 4, 2011 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 
20110015937 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS. 

 
APN: 7059-014-900, APN: APN 7059-014-901  

PARCEL 7: 
 

PARCEL NOS. 80, 81, AND 82, AS SHOWN ON LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP, FILED IN BOOK 19, 
PAGE 36 OF RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID 
COUNTY. 

 
APN: 7059-015-900 

 
  

https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19


 

Att C – Grant Deed FINAL EXHIBIT A 

PARCEL 8: 
 

PARCELS 115, 116 AND 117, IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS SHOWN ON A LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP OF A PORTION OF 
THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 4 
SOUTH, RANGE 12 WEST, IN THE RANCHO LOS COYOTES, IN THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FILED IN BOOK 19, PAGE 36 OF RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 

 
APN: 7059-015-901 

 
PARCEL 9: 
PARCELS 78 AND 79 OF LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP, FILED IN BOOK 19, PAGE 36 OF RECORD 
OF SURVEYS, IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, AS PER MAP RECORDED IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 
 
APN: 7059-015-902 
 

 

https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19


 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 ATTACHMENT D 

ATTACHMENT D 
 

DECLARATION 
 

(Attached) 
 



 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1 

RECORDING REQUESTED BY ) 
AND WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: ) 
  ) 
City of Lakewood )  
5050 Clark Avenue )  
Lakewood, California 90712 )  
Attention: City Manager ) 
Project: Habitat Scattered Sites )        

(Space above for Recorder's Use Only) 
 

DECLARATION OF CONDITIONS, COVENANTS AND RESTRICTIONS 
(WITH AFFORDABLE HOUSING COVENANTS) 

 
This DECLARATION OF CONDITIONS, COVENANTS AND RESTRICTIONS 

(this “Declaration”) is made as of                            , 2024 by and between HABITAT FOR 
HUMANITY OF GREATER LOS ANGELES, a California nonprofit public benefit 
corporation (“Developer”) and the CITY OF LAKEWOOD, a California municipal corporation 
(“City”).   

RECITALS 

A. City and Developer have entered into that certain Disposition and Development 
Agreement (11644 206th Street, 20920 Roseton Avenue, 11610-18 207th Street, 20525-29 Pioneer 
Boulevard, and 11643-49 207th Street) (the “DDA”), which is incorporated herein by this 
reference.  Pursuant to the DDA, City has conveyed certain real property to Developer located at 
11644 206th Street, 20920 Roseton Avenue, 11610-18 207th Street, 20525-29 Pioneer Boulevard, 
and 11643-49 207th Street, in the City of Lakewood (APNs 7059-011-901, 7059-019-902, 
7059-019-900, 7059-019-901, 7059-014-900, 7059-014-901, 7059-015-901, 7059-015-
900 and 7059-015-902 (as legally described in Exhibit A hereto, the “Property”) for the purpose 
of developing affordable housing.  The Property consists of vacant land and was held by City in 
its capacity as the “housing successor” to the former Lakewood Redevelopment Agency in 
accordance with Health & Safety Code Section 34176.  All capitalized terms not defined herein 
shall have the meaning set forth in the DDA. 

B. Developer has agreed to construct thirty seven (37) townhomes on the Property and 
on certain real property located at 11637 207th Street, as legally described in Exhibit B hereto (the 
“Habitat Property”) (collectively, the “Restricted Units”) and to restrict the sale of the 
Restricted Units in accordance with certain covenants, conditions and restrictions as set forth 
herein.  This Declaration is intended to ensure that Developer, its successors and assigns, and every 
successor in interest to the Restricted Units or any part thereof, shall occupy and sell the Restricted 
Units in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Declaration.  

C. The development of the Project and restriction of the sale of the Restricted Units to 
Qualified Buyers pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Declaration are in accordance with 
the purpose of improving communities through affordable and safe housing and applicable 
provisions of state and local laws. 



 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1 2 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree and covenant as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
NONDISCRIMINATION 

Section 1. Nondiscrimination.  Developer covenants by and for itself and any 
successors in interest that there shall be no discrimination against or segregation of, any person or 
group of persons on account of any basis listed in subdivision (a) or (d) of Section 12955 of the 
Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) and 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955, and Section 12955.2 of the Government Code, 
in the sale, lease, sublease, transfer, use, occupancy, tenure, or enjoyment of the Properties, or any 
part of it, nor shall the Developer or any person claiming under or through it, establish or permit 
any practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference to the selection, location, 
number, use or occupancy of tenants, lessees, subtenants, sublessees, or vendees in the Property, 
including the Affordable Unit, or any portion thereof. The foregoing covenants shall run with the 
land. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, with respect to familial status, the foregoing 
paragraph shall not be construed to apply to housing for older persons, as defined in Section 
12955.9 of the Government Code.  With respect to familial status, nothing in the foregoing 
paragraph shall be construed to affect Sections 51.2, 51.3, 51.4, 51.10, 51.11, and 799.5 of the 
Civil Code, relating to housing for senior citizens. Subdivision (d) of Section 51 and Section 1360 
of the Civil Code and subdivisions (n), (o), and (p) of Section 12955 of the Government Code shall 
apply to the foregoing paragraph. 

Section 2. Nondiscrimination Clauses.  Developer shall refrain from restricting the 
sale of the Property, including the Affordable Unit, on account of any basis listed in subdivision 
(a) or (d) of Section 12955 of the Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 12926, 
12926.1, subdivision (m) and paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955, and Section 
12955.2 of the Government Code.  All such deeds, leases, contracts or subcontracts shall contain 
or be subject to substantially the following nondiscrimination and nonsegregation clauses: 

a. In deeds:  “In deeds:  “The grantee herein covenants by and for himself or herself, 
his or her heirs, executors, administrators, and assigns, and all persons claiming under or through 
them, that there shall be no discrimination against or segregation of, any person or group of persons 
on account of any basis listed in subdivision (a) or (d) of Section 12955 of the Government Code, 
as those bases are defined in Sections 12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) and paragraph (1) of 
subdivision (p) of Section 12955, and Section 12955.2 of the Government Code, in the sale, lease, 
sublease, transfer, use, occupancy, tenure, or enjoyment of the premises herein conveyed, nor shall 
the grantee or any person claiming under or through him or her, establish or permit any practice or 
practices of discrimination or segregation with reference to the selection, location, number, use or 
occupancy of tenants, lessees, subtenants, sublessees, or vendees in the premises herein conveyed. 
The foregoing covenants shall run with the land.” 



 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1 3 

Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, with respect to familial status, the foregoing 
paragraph shall not be construed to apply to housing for older persons, as defined in Section 
12955.9 of the Government Code. With respect to familial status, nothing in the foregoing 
paragraph shall be construed to affect Sections 51.2, 51.3, 51.4, 51.10, 51.11, and 799.5 of the 
Civil Code, relating to housing for senior citizens. Subdivision (d) of Section 51 and Section 1360 
of the Civil Code and subdivisions (n), (o), and (p) of Section 12955 of the Government Code shall 
apply to the foregoing paragraph. 

b. In leases:  “The lessee herein covenants by and for himself or herself, his or her 
heirs, executors, administrators and assigns, and all persons claiming under or through him or her, 
and this lease is made and accepted upon and subject to the following conditions: That there shall 
be no discrimination against or segregation of any person or group of persons, on account of any 
basis listed in subdivision (a) or (d) of Section 12955 of the Government Code, as those bases are 
defined in Sections 12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) and paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of 
Section 12955, and Section 12955.2 of the Government Code, in the leasing, subleasing, 
transferring, use, occupancy, tenure, or enjoyment of the premises herein leased nor shall the lessee 
himself or herself, or any person claiming under or through him or her, establish or permit any 
such practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference to the selection, location, 
number, use, or occupancy, of tenants, lessees, sublessees, subtenants, or vendees in the premises 
herein leased.” 

Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, with respect to familial status, the foregoing 
paragraph shall not be construed to apply to housing for older persons, as defined in Section 
12955.9 of the Government Code. With respect to familial status, nothing in the foregoing 
paragraph shall be construed to affect Sections 51.2, 51.3, 51.4, 51.10, 51.11, and 799.5 of the 
Civil Code, relating to housing for senior citizens. Subdivision (d) of Section 51 and Section 1360 
of the Civil Code and subdivisions (n), (o), and (p) of Section 12955 of the Government Code shall 
apply to the foregoing paragraph. 

a. In contracts:  “There shall be no discrimination against or segregation of any person 
or group of persons, on account of any basis listed in subdivision (a) or (d) of Section 12955 of the 
Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) and 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955, and Section 12955.2 of the Government Code, 
in connection with the performance of this contract nor shall the contracting party himself or 
herself, or any person claiming under or through him or her, establish or permit any such practice 
or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference to the selection, location, number, use, 
or occupancy of tenants, lessees, sublessees, subtenants, contractors, subcontractors or vendees 
with respect to the premises.” 

Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, with respect to familial status, the foregoing 
paragraph shall not be construed to apply to housing for older persons, as defined in Section 
12955.9 of the Government Code.  With respect to familial status, nothing in the foregoing 
paragraph shall be construed to affect Sections 51.2, 51.3, 51.4, 51.10, 51.11, and 799.5 of the 
Civil Code, relating to housing for senior citizens. Subdivision (d) of Section 51 and Section 1360 
of the Civil Code and subdivisions (n), (o), and (p) of Section 12955 of the Government Code shall 
apply to the foregoing paragraph. 



 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1 4 

The covenants in this Article I shall run with the Property in perpetuity. 

ARTICLE II 
GENERAL DUTIES OF DEVELOPER 

Section 1. Maintenance.  Developer, or its successor in interest, shall maintain the 
Property and all of the improvements thereon in good condition and in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of the DDA and in conformity with all applicable Governmental Regulations, 
including, without limitation, the City of Lakewood Municipal Code.   

Section 2. No Nuisance.  Developer shall not maintain, cause to be maintained, or 
allow to be maintained on or about the Property any public or private nuisance, including without 
limitation, the conduct of criminal activities set forth in the nuisance abatement provisions of the 
Uniform Controlled Substances Act (Health & Safety Code Sections 11570, et seq.) or the Street 
Terrorism Enforcement and Prevention Act (Penal Code Sections 186.22 et seq.) or any successor 
statute or law.  

Section 3. Construction of the Project.  Developer shall complete the construction of 
the Restricted Units on the Property and the Habitat Property in a timely manner and in accordance 
with the DDA and all applicable laws, regulations and entitlements.  No demolition or construction 
activities shall be undertaken on the Property or the Habitat Property without a validly issued 
building permit in accordance with the requirements of the City of Lakewood Municipal Code.   

Section 4. No Hazardous Materials Activity.  Developer shall not engage in any 
Hazardous Substance Activity in violation of Environmental Laws and shall comply with all 
Governmental Regulations in connection with the development of the Restricted Units. 

In addition, Developer shall take all necessary precautions to prevent the release into the 
environment of any Hazardous Substance which are located in, on or under the Property` in 
violation of Environmental Laws.  Such precautions shall include compliance with all 
Governmental Regulations with respect to any Hazardous Substance.  In addition, Developer shall 
install and utilize such equipment and implement and adhere to such procedures as are consistent 
with commercially reasonable standards with respect to the disclosure, storage, use, removal and 
disposal of Hazardous Substance.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Declaration shall not 
prohibit the use of such products in quantities as are customarily used in the construction, 
maintenance, rehabilitation or management of residential developments or associated buildings 
and grounds, or used in residential activities in a manner typical of other comparable residential 
developments, or substances commonly ingested by a significant population living within the 
Project including without limitation alcohol, aspirin, tobacco and saccharine. 

ARTICLE III 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING OBLIGATIONS  

Section 1. Restricted Units.  Developer acknowledges that the purpose of City’s 
transfer of the Property is to encourage affordable homeownership among Low Income 
Households.  Pursuant to such purpose, Developer covenants and agrees to construct on the 
Property and the Habitat Property, and make available and sell, the Restricted Units to Qualified 



 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1 5 

Buyers at an Affordable Sales Price consistent with applicable requirements of the DDA and this 
Declaration.   

Section 2. Sale of Restricted Units.  Developer covenants and agrees to make available 
and sell the Restricted Units solely to Qualified Buyers at an Affordable Sales Price.  Developer 
covenants and agrees to sell the following Units to the following groups of Qualified Buyers: 

(i) Thirty seven (37) Units shall be held for sale and sold to Low Income 
Households. 

Section 3. Maximum Sales Price.  Developer covenants and agrees that the Restricted 
Units shall be sold at an Affordable Sales Price; provided, however, that the maximum sales price 
for the Restricted Units shall not exceed the fair market value of the units. 

Section 4. Selection of Buyers.  Developer shall be responsible for the selection of a 
Qualified Buyer for the Restricted Units constructed on the Property.  Developer shall ensure that 
the Restricted Units are sold in compliance with the income eligibility and other criteria set forth 
herein. 

Section 5. Income of Buyers.  Developer shall obtain an income computation and 
certification form completed by the prospective buyer of a Restricted Unit, together with a copy 
of all back-up supporting information, demonstrating that the Household qualifies as a Low 
Income Household.  Developer shall not transfer title to the Restricted Unit to the prospective 
buyer until Developer has confirmed that the Household qualifies as a Qualified Buyer.  Developer 
shall perform a computation demonstrating that the Restricted Unit will be sold to the prospective 
buyer at an Affordable Sales Price with financing that results in an Affordable Housing Cost.  
Developer shall verify the income certifications and computations as provided by the proposed 
buyer. 

Developer shall obtain at least one of the following, as appropriate to the 
Household of the proposed buyer: 

a. three (3) paycheck stubs from the proposed purchaser’s three (3) 
most recent pay periods (and the same from any other adult member of the Household);  

b. a true copy of an income tax return from the proposed purchaser(s) 
for the most recent tax year in which a return was filed (and the same from any other member of 
the Household eighteen (18) years old or older); 

c. an income verification certification from the employer of the 
proposed purchaser and any other member of the Household eighteen (18) years old or older; 

d. an income verification certification from the Social Security 
Administration and/or the California Department of Social Services if the proposed purchaser or 
any other member of the Household eighteen (18) years old or older receives assistance from such 
agencies; or 



 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1 6 

e. an alternate form of income verification if none of the above forms 
of verification is available to Developer. 

Section 6. Term of Covenants.  This Declaration shall be reconveyed and released as 
to each Restricted Unit upon the sale of such Restricted Unit to a Qualified Buyer.  Upon such 
sale, City and each Qualified Buyer of an Affordable Unit shall enter into a declaration that 
requires that the resale of such Affordable Unit by the Qualified Buyer is restricted to resale 
exclusively to Eligible Purchasers at an Affordable Resale Price until such date as is forty five (45) 
years from the date of the initial sale of the Affordable Unit to the Qualified Buyer by Developer 
(the “City/Buyer Declaration”).  

Section 7. Owner Occupancy.  The City/Buyer Declaration shall provide that each 
Affordable Unit is restricted to occupancy by the owners of the Affordable Unit.  Developer 
covenants and agrees to disclose such restriction to Qualified Buyers of the Restricted Units and 
obtain written acknowledgement of receipt of such disclosure.  

Section 8. Disclosure Requirements. Prior to the execution of a purchase and sale 
agreement between Developer and any purchaser of an Affordable Unit, Developer shall disclose 
in writing to each Qualified Buyer the fact that the Property is burdened by the requirements stated 
in this Declaration, which will remain in effect for the term described herein. 

Section 9. Resale Restriction. The City/Buyer Declaration shall provide that the 
Affordable Unit may be sold by a Qualified Buyer or subsequent Eligible Purchaser during the 
Affordability Period only to an Eligible Purchaser at an Affordable Resale Price. 

Section 10. Financing Resulting in an Affordable Housing Cost.  Developer shall sell 
each Affordable Unit to a Qualified Buyer only with financing resulting in Affordable Housing 
Cost.  For purposes hereof, financing resulting in an Affordable Housing Cost means that the 
Affordable Sales Price of the Affordable Unit will be paid with a down payment plus one or more 
mortgages secured by a deed of trust, provided that Affordable Monthly Housing Expenses shall 
not exceed Affordable Housing Cost.  With respect to financing to be obtained by the initial 
Qualified Buyer, it is contemplated that the Qualified Buyer will obtain a first mortgage from a 
third party bank lender resulting in Affordable Monthly Housing Expenses not to exceed 
Affordable Housing Cost.  Additionally, the Qualified Buyer may obtain CalHOME, HOP or 
WISH loans or similar grants or loans from programs available to the Qualified Buyer, if any.  Any 
difference between the Affordable Sales Price of the Affordable Unit and the total of the down 
payment, first mortgage, and any grants or loans received will be paid with a loan from Developer 
secured by a subordinate position deed of trust requiring no periodic payments of principal or 
interest. 

For purposes hereof: 

“Affordability Period” means the period commencing upon the closing of escrow 
for the sale of the Affordable Unit to a Qualified Buyer and terminating no earlier than the forty 
fifth (45th) anniversary of the sale of the Affordable Unit to a Qualified Buyer. 



 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1 7 

“Affordable Housing Cost” means, for Low Income Households, the monthly debt 
service payment on a third party purchase money mortgage used to purchase a Restricted Unit, 
which will result in Affordable Monthly Housing Expenses that do not exceed an “affordable 
housing cost” for the appropriate income level as calculated pursuant to Health and Safety Code 
Section 50052.5(b).  In addition, for any Lower Income Household that has a Gross Income that 
equals or exceeds seventy percent (70%) of the area median income adjusted for actual family size, 
the monthly debt service payment on a third party purchase money mortgage used to purchase a 
Restricted Unit shall result in Affordable Monthly Housing Expenses that do not exceed thirty 
percent (30%) of the monthly Gross Income of the Household.  The term “adjusted for family size 
appropriate to the unit” shall have the meaning set forth in Health and Safety Code Section 
50052.5(h) or its successor statute(s). 

“Affordable Monthly Housing Expenses” means aggregate monthly housing 
expenses that include all of the following associated with the Restricted Unit, estimated or known 
as of the date of the proposed purchase of the Restricted Unit:  (i) principal and interest payments 
on a mortgage loan(s) including any loan insurance fees associated therewith (a first lien mortgage 
loan is required hereunder to bear a fixed rate of interest and require level payments throughout its 
thirty (30) year term); (ii) property taxes and assessments; (iii) fire and casualty insurance covering 
replacement value of property improvements; (iv) any homeowner association fees; (v) a 
reasonable utility allowance; and (vi) estimated property maintenance and repairs. 

“Affordable Resale Price” means the sales price to be used when a Qualified Buyer 
sells an Affordable Unit to an Eligible Purchaser and means a price equal to the total of (i) any 
second or third mortgage assistance procured or assumed by the buyer that does not require 
periodic payment of principal and interest, plus (ii) the amount of a first mortgage which results in 
an Affordable Housing Cost to the buyer, plus (iii) the amount of the down payment to be made 
by the buyer.  The Affordable Resale Price may equal but shall not exceed the fair market value 
of the Affordable Unit.   

“Affordable Sales Price” means the sales price of a Restricted Unit to a Qualified 
Buyer which may equal but shall not exceed the fair market value of the Unit.  The Affordable 
Sales Price shall be paid by a down payment plus one or more mortgages secured by a deed of 
trust (including, without limitation, a purchase money first mortgage loan, any grants or 
subordinate loans received by the Qualified Buyer, and/or a subordinate loan from Developer), 
provided that principal and interest payments on the mortgages plus ownership costs shall not 
exceed an Affordable Housing Cost.   

“Affordable Units” means each of the newly constructed residential units in the 
Project which shall be available to, occupied by or held for sale exclusively to Qualified Buyers 
who are also Low Income Households at an Affordable Sales Price. 

“Eligible Purchaser” means a household purchasing an Affordable Unit upon 
resale of the Affordable Unit by the Qualified Buyer or a subsequent Eligible Purchaser, which 
such household must (a) qualify as a Low Income Household, and (b) meet the other requirements 
set forth herein for buyers of an Affordable Unit, including, without limitation, the requirement 
that the buyer(s) agree to occupy the Affordable Unit as their primary residence and restrict the 



 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1 8 

sale of the Affordable Unit to Eligible Purchasers at an Affordable Resale Price for the remaining 
term of the Affordability Period.   

“Gross Income” shall mean the total annual gross income of all members of a 
Household 18 and over, determined in accordance with Section 6914 of Title 25 of the California 
Code of Regulations. 

“Household” means one or more persons purchasing or occupying a Restricted 
Unit. 

“Low Income Household” means a Household whose annual Gross Income does 
not exceed the California state income limits for a “Low Income” Household (as defined in Health 
and Safety Code Section 50079.5 for Los Angeles County), adjusted for actual Household size, as 
published annually by HCD pursuant to Health and Safety Code Section 50093. 

“Restricted Unit Closing” means the closing of an escrow conveying title to the 
Restricted Unit to a Qualified Buyer at an Affordable Sales Price. 

“Restricted Unit(s)” means each of the thirty seven (37) newly constructed 
residential units in the Project which shall be available to, occupied by or held for sale exclusively 
to Qualified Buyers who are Low Income Households.   

Section 11. Owner Occupancy. Developer shall require each Qualified Buyer to agree 
that they will occupy the Affordable Unit as their primary residence for the Affordability Period. 
The City/Buyer Declaration shall provide that Owner’s attempt to rent or actual rental of the 
Affordable Unit for any purpose during the Affordability Period shall entitle City to exercise all 
available legal and equitable remedies under the City/Buyer Declaration. 

It is expressly understood, acknowledged, and covenanted by the Developer for 
itself, its successors and assigns, that the Affordable Unit or any part thereof shall only be used 
and maintained as an owner-occupied residential unit. Therefore, the Qualified Buyer and any 
Eligible Purchaser, its successor or its assigns, shall not rent, lease, or sublease the Affordable Unit 
(including any improvement or fixture thereto), or otherwise transfer or attempt to transfer a 
tenancy or leasehold interest in the Affordable Unit (including any improvement or fixture thereto) 
or any part thereof.  Developer may enter into an Interim Lease with a Qualified Buyer solely in 
accordance with the DDA. 

ARTICLE IV 
ENFORCEMENT 

Section 1. Remedies.  Subject to the notice and cure rights of the Developer set forth 
in the DDA, in the event of default or breach of any of the terms or conditions of this Declaration 
by Developer, its heirs, executors, administrators or assigns, City may pursue the remedy thereof 
by any and all means of enforcement, both in equity and at law, as provided by the laws of the 
State of California, including, but not limited to, injunctive relief and/or specific performance. 



 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1 9 

By way of example and not limitation, if any default, breach or violation is 
not cured to the satisfaction of City within the applicable cure period, City may declare a default 
hereunder and may take any one or more of the following actions: 

(a) Collect all rents and income in connection with the sale or 
lease of any Restricted Unit, if any, and use the same and the reserve funds for the construction, 
sale, operation and maintenance of the Restricted Unit. 

(b) Take possession of the Restricted Unit and bring any action 
necessary to enforce any rights of the City growing out of the construction or sale of the Restricted 
Unit, and construct and sell the Restricted Unit in accordance with the terms of this Declaration 
until such time as City, in its sole discretion, shall determine that the Developer is again in a 
position to resume construction and sale of the Restricted Unit in accordance with the terms of this 
Declaration. 

(c) Apply to any court, state or federal, for specific performance 
of this Declaration or for the appointment of a receiver to take over and construct, operate and sell 
the Restricted Unit in accordance with the terms of this Declaration, or for such other relief as may 
be appropriate.  It is agreed by the Developer that the injury to City arising from a default under 
any of the terms of this Declaration would be irreparable and that the amount of compensation 
which would provide adequate relief to City, in light of the purposes and requirements of the 
programs applicable to the Restricted Unit, would be impossible to ascertain. 

(d) Seek such other appropriate remedies as may be available 
under the law. 

In the event that the breach or violation involves selling the Restricted Unit 
for a price in excess of an Affordable Sales Price or other charges in excess of those permitted 
under this Declaration, City may demand the return of such excess proceeds or other charges to 
the affected households.   

The remedies of City hereunder and under the DDA are cumulative, and the 
exercise of one or more of such remedies shall not be deemed an election of remedies and shall 
not preclude the exercise by City of any one or more of its other remedies. 

Section 2. Rights of City.  As a party to this Declaration, City is entitled to the 
following rights: 

 a. City has the right, but not the obligation, to enforce all of the 
provisions of this Declaration. 

 b. Any amendment to the Declaration shall require the written consent 
of City. 

 c. This Declaration does not in any way infringe on the right or duties 
of the City of Lakewood to enforce any of the provisions of its Municipal Code including, but not 
limited to, the abatement of dangerous buildings. 



 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1 10 

Section 3. Cumulative Remedies.  The remedies herein provided for breach of the 
covenants contained in this Declaration shall be deemed cumulative, and none of such remedies 
shall be deemed exclusive. 

Section 4. Failure to Enforce.  The failure to enforce any of the covenants contained 
in this Declaration shall not constitute a waiver of the right to enforce the same thereafter. 

Section 5. Third Party Beneficiary.  This Declaration is made and entered into for the 
sole protection and benefit of the City and its respective successors and assigns, and Developer, 
and its permitted successors and assigns, and no other person or persons shall have any right of 
action hereon.   

ARTICLE V 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Section 1. Severability.  Invalidation of any one of these covenants or restrictions by 
judgment or court order shall in no way affect any other provisions which shall remain in all force 
and effect. 

Section 2. Construction.  The provisions of this Declaration shall be liberally 
construed for the purpose of developing and maintaining the Restricted Units and restricting the 
sale of the Affordable Units in accordance with this Declaration and the DDA.  The article and 
section headings have been inserted for convenience only, and shall not be considered or referred 
to in resolving questions of interpretation or construction. 

Section 3. Amendments.  This Declaration may be amended only by the written 
agreement of Developer and City. 

Section 4. Notices.  Any notice permitted or required to be delivered as provided 
herein from one party to another shall be in writing and may be delivered either personally or by 
first-class or registered mail.  If delivery is made by mail, it shall be deemed to have been delivered 
seventy-two (72) hours after a copy of same has been deposited in the United States Mail, postage 
prepaid.  Notices to Developer shall be sent to Habitat for Humanity, 8739 Artesia Blvd., 
Bellflower, CA  90706, Attn:  President.  Notices to City shall be sent to City at City of Lakewood, 
5050 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, California 90712, Attention: City Manager.  Such addresses may 
be changed from time to time by notice in writing, which shall be made by certified mail to the 
other party in accordance with this Section 4.  

Section 5. Term of Declaration.  This Declaration shall be reconveyed and released by 
City as to each Restricted Unit upon the sale of such Restricted Unit to a Qualified Buyer.     

[Signatures on Next Page] 



 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, City and Developer have executed this Declaration as of the 
date set forth above. 

 
City: 
 
CITY OF LAKEWOOD, a California municipal 
corporation 

By: Exhibit – Do Not Sign  
Name:   
Its: City Manager 
 

ATTEST: 

By: Exhibit – Do Not Sign  

Its:    

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

By:  Exhibit – Do Not Sign  

Its:    

 
 
 

[DECLARATION SIGNATURE PAGE 1 OF 2] 
 
  



 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1  

DEVELOPER: 
 

HABITAT FOR HUMANITY OF GREATER 
LOS ANGELES, a California nonprofit public 
benefit corporation 

 
 
By: Exhibit – Do Not Sign  
 Erin Rank, President and CEO 

 
 
 

[DECLARATION SIGNATURE PAGE 2 OF 2] 
 



 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1  

 

EXHIBIT A 

 LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

THE LAND REFERRED TO HEREIN BELOW IS SITUATED IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD IN THE 
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

 
PARCEL 1: 
 
THAT PORTION OF THE EAST 13 ACRES OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER 
OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 4 SOUTH, RANGE 12. WEST, IN THE RANCHO LOS COYOTES, IN THE COUNTY 
OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS SHOWN ON A COPY OF A MAP MADE BY CHARLES T. 
HENLEY, RECORDED IN BOOK 41819, PAGE 141 ET SEQ., OF OFFICIAL RECORDS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY, SHOWN AS PARCEL 38 ON LICENSED SURVEYOR'S MAP FILED 
IN BOOK 19, PAGE 34 OF RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID 
COUNTY. 
 
EXCEPTING THEREFROM THAT PORTION THEREOF AS CONVEYED TO THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, BY 
DEED RECORDED MAY 2, 1963 IN BOOK D2014, PAGE 17 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS, DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
BEGINNING AT THE NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF SAID PARCEL 38; 
THENCE ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL, NORTH 89° 35' 05" EAST, 142.38 FEET TO THE 
NORTHEASTERLY CORNER OF SAID PARCEL; 
THENCE ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL, SOUTH 0° 40' 33" EAST, 2.66 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 89° 26'25" WEST, 104.35 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 53°31’41" WEST, 22.23 FEET TO A POINT IN A LINE THAT IS PARALLEL WITH AND DISTANT 
EASTERLY 20.00 FEET, MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES, TO THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL; 
THENCE SOUTH 89° 19' 27" WEST, 20.00 FEET TO SAID WESTERLY LINE; 
THENCE ALONG SAID WESTERLY LINE NORTH 0° 40' 23" WEST, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
APN: 7059-011-901 
 
PARCEL 2: 
 
LOT 3 AS SHOWN ON LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP, IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, COUNTY OF LOS 
ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FILED IN BOOK 19, PAGE(S) 36 RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 
 
EXCEPT THE WEST 205.00 FEET OF SAID LAND. 
 
EXCEPT THE NORTH 44.00 FEET OF THE REMAINDER OF SAID LAND. 
 
APN: 7059-019-900 
 
PARCEL 3: 
 
THE EASTERLY 45 FEET OF THE WESTERLY 205 FEET OF PARCEL 3 IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, COUNTY 
OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP FILED IN BOOK 19, PAGE 
36 RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 
 
APN: 7059-019-901 

https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FEEFF292-8B73-4530-BB55-DC170BD29A34
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/FF29EFD4-04CA-4D12-925E-A96AAF821A19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19


 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1 Exhibit A 

 
PARCEL 4: 

 
THE NORTH 44 FEET OF PARCEL 3, IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP FILED IN BOOK 19, PAGE 36 
RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 

 
EXCEPT THEREFROM THE WEST 205 FEET THEREOF. 

 
APN: 7059-019-902 

 
PARCEL 5: 

 
PARCELS 187, 188 AND 189, AS SHOWN ON LICENSED SURVEYORS MAP OF THE NORTH HALF 
OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 4 
SOUTH, RANGE 
12 WEST, SAN BERNARDINO BASE AND MERIDIAN, IN THE RANCHO LOS COYOTES, CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER MAP RECORDED IN 
BOOK 18, PAGE 33 OF RECORDS OF SURVEY, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF 
SAID COUNTY. 

 
EXCEPT THEREFROM THE SOUTHERLY 5 FEET OF THE NORTHERLY 30 FEET AS GRANTED TO 
THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD BY DEED RECORDED JANUARY 4, 2011 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 
20110015937 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS. 

 
PARCEL 6: 

 
PARCELS 190, 191 AND 192, AS SHOWN ON LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP, IN THE CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS PER MAP RECORDED IN 
BOOK 18, PAGE 33 OF RECORDS OF SURVEY, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF 
SAID COUNTY. 

 
EXCEPT THEREFROM THE SOUTHERLY 5 FEET OF THE NORTHERLY 30 FEET AS GRANTED TO 
THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD BY DEED RECORDED JANUARY 4, 2011 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 
20110015937 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS. 

 
APN: 7059-014-900, APN: APN 7059-014-901  

PARCEL 7: 

 
PARCEL NOS. 80, 81, AND 82, AS SHOWN ON LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP, FILED IN BOOK 19, 
PAGE 36 OF RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID 
COUNTY. 

 
APN: 7059-015-900 

 
  

https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/4BF7E0FA-5EC3-4591-B464-2A60864C3204
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/404835EC-18B5-4B42-A07D-969C2358B780
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19


 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1 Exhibit A 

PARCEL 8: 
 

PARCELS 115, 116 AND 117, IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AS SHOWN ON A LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP OF A PORTION OF 
THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 4 
SOUTH, RANGE 12 WEST, IN THE RANCHO LOS COYOTES, IN THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FILED IN BOOK 19, PAGE 36 OF RECORD OF SURVEYS, IN THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 

 
APN: 7059-015-901 

 
PARCEL 9: 
PARCELS 78 AND 79 OF LICENSED SURVEYOR’S MAP, FILED IN BOOK 19, PAGE 36 OF RECORD 
OF SURVEYS, IN THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, AS PER MAP RECORDED IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
COUNTY RECORDER OF SAID COUNTY. 
 
APN: 7059-015-902 
 

https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/81815F28-B461-447C-AAE0-1B2B9405811F
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19
https://smartviewonline.net/root/Druid/617F253D-654F-4E7C-946C-4C55BBA60F19


 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1 Exhibit B 

 
EXHIBIT B 

 LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 

The land referred to herein below is situated in the City of Lakewood in the County of Los Angeles, 
State of California, and is described as follows: 

That portion of the Northeast quarter of the Northeast quarter of section 12, township 4 South, 
range 12 West, San Bernardino Meridian, Rancho Los Coyotes, in the City of Lakewood, County 
of Los Angeles, State of California, shown as Parcels 83 and 84 on licensed surveyor’s map filed 
in Book 19, Page 36 of record of surveys. 
 
APN: 7059-015-008 
 
 



 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA    ) 
       ) § 
County of       )  
 
 
 
On      , before me,        a  
Notary Public, personally appeared        who proved to me on 
the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within 
instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized 
capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity 
upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
 

________________________________ 

Signature of Notary      (Affix seal here) 

  

A notary public or other officer completing this 
certificate verifies only the identity of the individual 
who signed the document to which this certificate is 
attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity 
of that document. 



 

Att D - Declaration FINAL v1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA    ) 
       ) § 
County of       )  
 
 
 
On      , before me,        a  
Notary Public, personally appeared        who proved to me on 
the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within 
instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized 
capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity 
upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
 

________________________________ 

Signature of Notary      (Affix seal here) 
 

A notary public or other officer completing this 
certificate verifies only the identity of the individual 
who signed the document to which this certificate is 
attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity 
of that document. 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 ATTACHMENT E 

ATTACHMENT E 
 

LIST OF DUE DILIGENCE REPORTS 
 

(To be inserted below) 



Due Diligence Reports 

 

11610 – 11618 207th St. 

• Converse Consultant Proposal – Phase I Environmental Site Assessment – 11610 – 11618 
207th St. 

• Demo and Sewer Cap Permit – 11610 – 11618 207th St. 
• Resolution No. LRA 2009-11 – A Resolution of the Lakewood Redevelopment Agency 

Approving Agreement for Acquisition of Real Property in the City of Lakewood – 11610 – 
11618 207th St. 

• Aerial View – 11610-11618 207th St. 
• Parcel Map – 11610-11618 207th St. 
• Converse Consultants Invoice  
• Document #20100159208 – Grant Deed 
• Document #20110015937 – Road Deed 

11644 206th St. and 11643 – 11649 207th St. 

• Document #20080196614 – Grant Deed 
• LRA Minutes – January 8, 2008 
• Parcel Map – 11644 206th St. and 11643 – 11649 207th St. 
• Resolution No. LRA 2008-1 – A Resolution of the Lakewood Redevelopment Agency 

Approving Agreement for Acquisition of Real Property in the City of Lakewood – 11643 207th 
St. 

• Building Permits – Demolition – 11643 – 11647 207th St. 
• South Coast Air Quality Management District - Notification of Demolition or Asbestos 

Removal – 11643 – 11647 207th St. 
• Aerial Map – 11644 206th St. and 11643 – 11649 207th St. 
• Preliminary Title Report – 11644 206th St. and 11643 -11649 207th St. 
• Application for Building Permit – Demo – 11644 206th St. 
• Resolution No. LRA 2008-15 – A Resolution of the Lakewood Redevelopment Agency 

Approving Agreements for Acquisition of Real Property in the City of Lakewood – 11644 206th 
St. and 11649 207th St. 

20525 – 20529 Pioneer Blvd. 

• Resolution No. LRA 2004-9 – A Resolution of the Lakewood Redevelopment Agency 
Approving Agreement for Acquisition of Real Property in the City of Lakewood – 20525 
Pioneer Blvd. 

• Preliminary Title Report – 20525 – 20529 Pioneer Blvd. 
• Application for Building Permit – Demolition – 20529 Pioneer Blvd. 
• ArcMap – 20525 – 20529 Pioneer Blvd. 
• Document #043104145 – Grant Deed 
• Document #96403339 – Trustee’s Deed Upon Sale 



• SCS Engineers – Asbestos Report – 20525 Pioneer Blvd. 
• The JCP Report – Statutory Natural Hazard Disclosure Statement – 20525 Pioneer Blvd. 
• Aerial Map – 20525 – 20529 Pioneer Blvd. 
• Parcel Map – 20525 – 20529 Pioneer Blvd. 
• Demo and Sewer Cap Permit – 20525 Pioneer Blvd. 
• South Coast Air Quality Management District - Notification of Demolition or Asbestos 

Removal – 20525 Pioneer Blvd. 

20920 Roseton Ave. 

• Aerial Map – 20920 Roseton Ave. 
• Building Permits – Demolition – 20920 Roseton Ave. 
• South Coast Air Quality Management District - Notification of Demolition or Asbestos 

Removal – 20920 Roseton Ave. 
• Pacific Soils Engineering, Inc. – Compaction Test Results – 20920 Roseton Ave. 
• 2010 Parcel Map – 20920 Roseton Ave. 
• Preliminary Title Report – 20920 Roseton Ave. 
• Document #20090099009 – Grant Deed 
• Resolution No. LRA 2008-15 - A Resolution of the Lakewood Redevelopment Agency 

Approving Agreement for Acquisition of Real Property in the City of Lakewood – 20920 
Roseton Ave. 

• Document #20110015936 – Road Deed 
• 2023 Parcel Map – 20920 Roseton Ave. 



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 ATTACHMENT G 

ATTACHMENT F 
 

SCHEDULE OF PERFORMANCE 
 

(Attached) 



 
Att F Schedule of Performance FINAL v1 

ATTACHMENT F 
SCHEDULE OF PERFORMANCE 

(11644 206th Street, 20920 Roseton Avenue, 11610-18 207th Street, 
20525-29 Pioneer Boulevard, and 11643-49 207th Street) 

 
 
 
A date for performance as set forth herein may be extended for up to twelve (12) months in 
a writing signed by City and Developer at any time prior to the occurrence of such date.   

 
1.  Execution of Agreement.  DDA 

authorized, executed and 
delivered to Developer by City. 
 

Effective Date. 
 

2.  Open Escrow.  The Parties shall 
open Escrow with the escrow 
company for the conveyance of 
the Property. 
 

Not later than thirty (30) days after 
the Effective Date. 

3.  Developer 90-Day Due Diligence 
Period.  Developer shall have, at 
its sole cost and expense, the 
right to conduct soils and 
engineering and environmental 
assessments.  
 

Beginning upon the Effective Date 
and expiring ninety (90) days from 
Effective Date.  Developer may elect 
to proceed with the Closing prior to 
the expiration of the Due Diligence 
Period. 

4.  Environmental Disclosure.  City 
shall deliver or make available to 
Developer copies of City's 
Environmental Reports for review. 
 

Not later than thirty (30) days after 
the Effective Date. 

5.  Delivery of Preliminary Title 
Report.  City shall cause Title to 
deliver to Developer for review 
and approval a standard 
Preliminary Title Report for each 
Property. 
 

Not later than thirty (30) days after 
the Effective Date. 



2 
Att F Schedule of Performance FINAL v1 

6.  Developer Approval or 
Disapproval of Condition of 
Property and Notice to Proceed.  
Developer shall approve or 
disapprove, and notify City of its 
approval or disapproval, of the 
physical and environmental 
condition of the Property and 
deliver to City and Escrow Agent 
its Notice of Intention to Proceed 
or Terminate. 

Within ten (10) days of the expiration 
of Developer's Due Diligence Period. 

7.  Developer Review of Preliminary 
Title Report.  Developer shall give 
Notice to City and Escrow of its 
approval or disapproval of 
Preliminary Title Report. 
 

Within thirty (30) days of receipt of 
Preliminary Title Report. 
 
 

8.  Amendments to Title.  City shall 
cause Title to remove any 
disapproved items by Developer. 
 

Within ten (10) days of Notice from 
Developer of any disapproved items. 

9.  Approval-Conceptual Design, Site 
Design and Drawings.  City will 
approve or disapprove the design 
and drawings for the Property. 
 

Within six (6) months of Effective 
Date. 

10.  Developer Submittals into Escrow.  
Developer and City shall submit 
into escrow the deliverables listed 
in Section 3.6 of the DDA. 
 

At least five (5) business days prior 
to Closing. 

11.  Closing Procedure.  Escrow shall 
close when the Parties’ conditions 
precedent have been satisfied or 
waived.  The Escrow Agent shall 
Close the Escrow as described in 
the Agreement. 
 

Closing is the time and day the 
Grant Deed for the Property is filed 
in the Official Records of Los 
Angeles County, but in no event later 
than the Outside Closing Date (June 
30, 2024) or any extension thereof in 
accordance with the DDA. 
 

12.  Commencement of Construction.  
Developer shall commence 
construction of the Project. 
 

Within 120 days of the receipt of 
Building Permits. 

13.  Obtain Building Permits.  
Developer shall pay for and obtain 
issuance of all necessary building 
permits.   
 

Prior to commencement of 
construction. 



3 
Att F Schedule of Performance FINAL v1 

14.  Submission of Marketing Plans.  
Developer shall submit the 
Marketing and Selection Plan to 
City for its approval. 
 

Not later than 90 days after 
commencement of construction. 

15.  Selection of Qualified Buyers.  
City and Developer shall select 
and approve Qualified Buyers for 
the Affordable Units. 
 

Not later than 90 days prior to 
completion of construction. 

16.  Completion of Construction.  
Developer shall obtain a 
Certificate of Occupancy.  
 

Not later than forty-eight (48) months 
after commencement of 
construction.   
 

17.  Confirmation that proposed 
buyers remain Qualified Buyers.  
Developer shall submit such 
documentation as is requested by 
City to demonstrate that 
previously approved Qualified 
Buyers continue to remain so 
qualified.   
 

Not later than 90 days prior to the 
proposed close of escrow for the 
sale of any Unit.   

18.  Completion of sale to Qualified 
Buyers.  Developer and Qualified 
Buyers shall close escrow for the 
sale of the Units.   
 

Not later than 150 days from the 
issuance of Certificate of 
Occupancy. 

  



 

Lakewood DDA FINAL v1 ATTACHMENT G 

ATTACHMENT G 
 

FORM OF RELEASE OF CONSTRUCTION COVENANTS 
 

(Attached) 
 

 
 

 



TO BE RECORDED AND WHEN 
RECORDED RETURNED TO: 

Habitat for Humanity of  
Greater Los Angeles 
8739 Artesia Blvd. 
Bellflower, CA  90706 
Attention:  President  
________________________________________________________________________ 

SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER’S USE

FORM OF RELEASE OF CONSTRUCTION COVENANTS 

WHEREAS, the CITY OF LAKEWOOD, a California municipal corporation (“City”) 
has entered into that certain Disposition and Development Agreement dated as of May 14, 2024 
(the “Agreement”) with HABITAT FOR HUMANITY OF GREATER LOS ANGELES, a 
California non-profit corporation (“Developer”) relating to property in the City of Lakewood 
described as set forth in Exhibit A (the “Property”).  All capitalized terms not defined herein shall 
have the meaning ascribed to them in the Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Agreement, upon the completion of the construction of Project 
or any Restricted Unit, the City is required to issue for recordation a Release of Construction 
Covenants (“Release”) acknowledging the completion of the Restricted Units and releasing certain 
obligations and rights of the Developer set forth in the Agreement and the Grant Deed given by 
City to Developer for the Property; and 

WHEREAS, Developer has completed construction of the Restricted Units as required by 
the Agreement, and has requested that the City issue the Release; and  

WHEREAS, City has inspected and determined that the construction of the Project has 
been satisfactorily completed and now desires to issue the Release pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of the Agreement. 

NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby acknowledged and certified by the City that:   

1. The construction of the Project has been completed in accordance with the
Agreement. 

2. The issuance and recording of this Release shall cancel and release any rights,
remedies or controls that the parties would otherwise have or be entitled to exercise under the 
Agreement or the Grant Deed for the Property as a result of a default in or breach of any provision 
thereof prior to completion of the construction of the Project.  



 

Att G - Form of Release of Construction Covenants FINAL v1 PAGE 2 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, City has executed this Release which is effective on the date 
set forth above. 
 

 
CITY OF LAKEWOOD 

 
 

By: Exhibit – Do Not Sign  
Name:   
Its:   

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
CITY ATTORNEY 
 
By: Exhibit – Do Not Sign  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
CITY CLERK 
 
By: Exhibit – Do Not Sign  
 
 



 

Att G - Form of Release of Construction Covenants FINAL v1  

 
 
 
A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the 
individual who signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, 
accuracy, or validity of that document. 
 
State of California )  
County of _____________________ )  

 
On ____________________, before me, ____________________________, a Notary Public, 
personally appeared _______________________________, who proved to me on the basis of 
satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument 
and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized 
capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity 
upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
Signature ________________________



 

Att G - Form of Release of Construction Covenants FINAL v1 EXHIBIT A 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
THE LAND REFERRED TO HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
APN ____-___-___ 
 
 


	2024-04-14 CC Agenda
	RI-1, Minutes
	RI-2, Personnel Transactions
	RI-3, Registers of Demands
	RI-4, AB1234
	RI-5, Monthly Investment Transactions
	RI-6, Street Closure/Block Party - Autry Avenue
	RI-7, PW 2022-2 Notice of Completion
	RI-8, Council Chambers Improvements
	RI-9, Award of Bid - PW2024-3 and 2024-5
	RI-10, Traffic Signal Synchronicaztion Program
	RI-11, Administrative Fine for Carwash
	3.1, Summer Programs, Civic Center Block Party Preview and Catalog Preview
	LHSA-1, DDA Habitat for Humanity



